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LandIsunl 2.1

Tender Offer Acceptance Procedures for NVDR

of UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Public Company Limited

NVDR Holder of UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Public Company Limited

'

1. Complete the Tender Offer Acceptance Form for NVDR

!

2. Advise broker to transfer the Scripless NVDR Shares to the following account

“UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Plc. for Tender”

v

3. Enclose a certified true copy of the following documents

1) Thai Individual 4) Foreign Juristic Person

1.1 A certified copy of ID Card or 4.1 A certified copy of the certificate of
incorporation, and the affidavit issued by an
authorized officer of the juristic person or
A copy of State Enterprise Employee Card regulatory body of the country where the
Juristic person is domiciled, which certifies
the name of the juristic person, the person
authorized to bind the juristic person, head
2) Foreign Individual office location and any condition to the power
of such authorized person to bind the juristic
person (affidavit issued not exceeding 1 year
A certified copy of Alien Certificate prior to the day of the tender offer period)

A certified copy of Civil Servant ID Card or

1.2 A certified copy of house registration for a
copy of State Enterprise Employee Card only

A certified copy of Passport or

3) Thai Juristic Person 4.2 Documents state in No. 1) or 2) of the person
who is duly authorized by the company to

3.1 A certified copy of Company Affidavit Issued s .
certify true copy of document in 4.1 above

by MOC not exceeding 6 months prior to the
last day of the tender offer period Documents in 4.1 and 4.2 must be certified by the
notary public officer and Thai Embassy or Thai
Consulate in the country where the document
were prepared and issued not exceeding 1 year.

3.2 A certified copy of documents stated in No. 1)
or 2) of the person who is duly authorized by
the company to certify true copy of document
in 3.1 above

5) Foreign Juristic Person has to declare cost of securities by submitting the Confirmation of Securities Cost
Form together with the evidence that demonstrates the cost basis. If the Offeree fails to declare the cost
basis and to submit proper evidence of the cost basis, the withholding tax will be imposed on the entire
proceeds of the sale of the securities.

6) A certified true copy of the first page of a passbook savings account or current account statement of Bank with the
page showing the account name and number is required in case the Offeree selects the payment method by
transferring to a bank account (Commercial Bank branch in Thailand)

In case of security holder’s authorized representative
1) Power of Attorney affixed with a Baht 10 / 30 stamp duty
2) Certified copy of identification documents of the shareholder and authorized representative as specify above

4. Submit all documents to:

Khun Chainarong Boonchusanong or Khun Charun Suksakon or Operations Department, UOB Kay Hian Securities
(Thailand) Plc., 130 -132, 3™ Floor, Sindhorn Building Tower I, Wireless Road, Lumpini, Patumwan, Bangkok 10330
Tel: 0-2090-3444 ext. 3386,3390,3382,3380 and 3381
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| Tender Offer Acceptance Form for NVDR of UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Public Company Limited |

Acceptance FOrm NO. .......ccooeveriiiiinineeeennn
To UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Public Company Limited (“The Offeror”) and UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Plc.
(“The Tender Offer Agent”)

Date .eiviiiiiiiiiiiiiaeans

I/WE (MI/MIS./MS.JCOMPANY) ittt e e e e e et et e e e et e e et et e e et eeaeeantbeeeeeanneneeas Nationality .........cccccceeeiiiiieieennnene
Contract Address (that can be reached via regiStered Mail) ....... ..ot e e e e et e e e e ar e et e e nen e neaan
............................................ Postal Code ......................... Telephone No. ...............cceeeveennna  Facsimile e,

Please specific type of seller

A Thai Individual ID Card/Civil Servant ID Card/State Enterprise Card NO. ..........ooviiiiiiiiiii e,

O Foreign Individual Alien Card/Passport NO. .........cooiiiiiieeiiiiee e

A Thai Juristic Person Company Registration NO. .......ccooceviviiieiiiiieiiine e,

U Foreign Juristic Person that Operates Business in Thailand Company Registration NO. .......ccccoeeeniiieiiiiniiiiiaes

O Foreign Juristic Person that Does Not Operate Business in Thailand Company Registration No. ..

I/We hereby accept to tender and sell . B S PPOPRUPRPROt ) NVDRs representing

ordinary shares or preferred shares of UOB Kay H|an Secuntles (Thalland) Publlc Company Limited (“"UOBKH?”) at the price of Baht [8.17] per share, (After deducted the
brokerage fee of 0.25% of the offer price and value added tax (VAT) at the rate of 7% of the brokerage fee.) Net price Baht [8.1481] a total value of Baht
................................................... ettt e e e ene..) SUDJECE tO terms and conditions stated in the Tender
Offer Document. I/We thoroughly examined the terms and conditions contained in the Tender Offer and agree to follow the terms and conditions stated in the Tender
Offer document and will not revoke this share selling in any circumstance, except falling in conditions.

I/We hereby appoint UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Plc. as my/our proxy to sell, transfer, deliver NVDRs, arrange the payment procedure and process,
and do any other necessary and relevant to my/our acceptance of the Tender Offer.

Transfer Scripless NVDRs

Transfer Date TSD Participant No. Transfer Slip No. TSD No. of NVDRs

Total

I/We studied the information, terms and conditions and agreed to comply with all terms and conditions under the tender offer and | agree that the acceptance of
the Tender Offer cannot be canceled under any circumstances. Unless the Tender Offer is canceled according to the conditions and the terms specified in the tender offer
in which | can cancel the intention to sell the company's shares UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Public Company Limited between 9:00 a.m. - 4:00 p.m. every business
day. From 2 February 2026 to 2 March 2026 (20 business days from the date of tender offer)

Payment Option: *** Not deliver cheque by mailing
Q I/We will collect a payment cheque in person U Hereby authorizer collect a payment
O Transfer to the specified bank account of ..ot i (Commercial Bank branch in Thailand)

Branch....................... Type of Account .........coooiiiiiiiiinnis , Account No. DDD'D'DDDDD'D

(The name of bank account must be same as the seller name)

I/We attach evidence of transfer of the NVDRs to account “UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Plc. for Tender”, Account No. 026-000000014-6, together with a
certified copy of the identification card and / or a certified copy of the Company Affidavit (in the case of a juristic person) as set out in the Tender Offer Acceptance
procedure.

1/We hereby certify that all NVDRs offered for sale have no liabilities and are free from any mortgage, pledge, lien, preferential interest or other encumbrance.

SIGNEA. . e Proxy SIGNEA. .. s Offeree

| Transfer of Scripless NVDR and Tender Offer Acceptance Form Receipt |

Acceptance FOrm NO. ........coiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e
UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Plc. has received the Tender Offer Acceptance Form to sell NVDRs of the securities of UOB Kay Hian
Securities (Thailand) Public Company Limited. and the Transfer of Scripless NVDR with the document to transfer NVDRs

totaling.......coovveiiiie e, units of NVDRS from (Mr. /MrS./MS./COMPANY) .....euinieeititeiee e ee e ee et e aet e eet e e e e e e e eeaan e ees
The Offeree will receive payment by:
U Collect a payment cheque in person U Hereby authorizer collect a payment
O Transfer to the specified bank account Of ... ... i e (Commercial Bank branch in Thailand)
Branch..................... Type of Account ................o....ee , Account No. HOo-0-00000-0
SIGNEA e Recipient
(e )
Date ..viviieiiii

(for more information, please contact Operations Department, UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Plc., 130 -132, 3 Floor, Sindhorn Building Tower |, Wireless
Road, Lumpini, Patumwan, Bangkok 10330, Tel: 0-2090-3444 ext. 3386, 3390,3382,3380 and 3381)



LandIILny 2.3

Confirmation of Securities Cost Form for NVDR
(Only for Foreign Juristic Person not carrying on business in Thailand and residing in a country that has no
double tax treaty with Thailand or residing in a country that has double tax treaty with Thailand, but such
treaty does not exempt the Foreign Juristic Person from withholding tax on the capital gains realized from
the sale of securities in Thailand.)

To: UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Public Company Limited (the "Tender Offer Agent")

We (FOreign JUFISHIC PEISON) .........uiiiiiiii e
Nationality ..., Tax Identification No. (if any).........ccccoviiiii

would like to declare the acquisition cost of our UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Public
Company Limited's securities to be offered for sale as follows:

Securities Securities Holder Name as| No. of NVDR Cost per
Transfer |Certificate No. / appearing in the units (ordinary | Share (Thai
Date Transfer Slip No. registration shares) Baht)
Total

We hereby attach
............................................................................................................................ totaling

............ pages, as the evidence(s) of the cost of the securities for the purpose of withholding tax
calculation.

We hereby certify that the above statements are true and correct in all respects.

SIGNALUIE w..veveeeeeeeeeee e The Offeree

Remark Foreign Juristic Person has to declare cost of shares by submitting the Form for
Declaration of Cost of Offered Securities with the evidence of such cost. If this form is
submitted with proper evidence of the cost basis, only the Offeree's gain on the sale (if
any) will be subject to withholding tax. If the form is not submitted or proper evidence of
the cost basis is not attached with the form, the withholding tax will be imposed on the
entire proceeds of the sale instead of the capital gains (implying the cost of purchase is 0
baht (zero baht)).
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Power of Attorney Duty
Stamp
Baht 10/30
Made at ........cocoeiiiiiii,
Date....oooiii
By this Power of Attorney, I/We ... Age .......... years.
Nationality.........ccccceeeiiiiiiiinns AdAreSS ..o
.......................................... Postal Code.....................Country.................ooiiiiiin,
hold(S) ..cvvvviiveeiiieeieenn, NVDRs of UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Public Company
Limited hereby authorize Mr./Mrs./MS..........ciuiii e Age............. years
Nationality.........ccccoeeiiiiiininnnnn. AQAIESS i
.......................................... Postal Code............cccoeee..COUNIY ..o,

To act as my/our proxy to
Q Sell, transfer and deliver NVDRs of UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Public Company Limited.,
Q Collect the payment cheque

and to be authorized to do and execute all such other matters in connection with the aforesaid mentioned
on my behalf until its completion.

Any act taken by my/our proxy shall be deemed to be taken by myself/ourselves in every respect.

SIgnature ..o Grantor
(e )
Signature ..o Proxy
P )
SIgnature ..o Witness
P )
SIgNature ..o Witness
(e )

Note: 1. Certified true copies of ID or Certificate of Incorporation of the Grantor and authorized representative are required to
be attached herewith.
2. A power of attorney executed with 10-baht stamp duty affixed in case of authorizing to perform the submission of
Tender Offer Acceptance Form for NVDR only, or 30-baht stamp duty affixed in case of authorizing to perform both the
submission of Tender Offer Acceptance Form for NVDR and receiving a cheque for the payment of ordinary shares
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January 21, 2026
To: UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED

the Tender Offeror for all securities of
UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Public Company Limited

RE: Letter of Confirmation on Non-Disposal of Securities During Tender Offer of
UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Public Company Limited

We, (a) UOB Kay Hian (BVI) Limited ("UOBKH BVI"), as the owner of ordinary shares in UOB Kay Hian
Securities (Thailand) Public Company Limited (the "Company”), holding a total of 95,813,734 shares, representing
19.07% of the total issued and paid-up capital and total voting rights; and (b) UOB Kay Hian Private Limited and UOB
Kay Hian (Hong Kong) Limited, as custodians of the aforementioned ordinary shares of UOBKH BVI in the Company,
holding a total of 95,813,734 shares, representing 19.07% of the total issued and paid-up capital and total voting rights,
hereby confirm our intention not to sell the ordinary shares of the Company held by us and our group in this tender
offer.

The list of shareholders who intend not to sell the ordinary shares of the Company in this tender offer, and the
shareholding proportion of each shareholder, is as follows:

Number of Percentage of Total Issued and Paid-Up
Shareholder(s) Shares Held Capital and Total Voting Rights
UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED 92,618,734 18.43
UOB KAY HIAN (HONG KONG) LIMITED 3,195,000 0.64
Total 95,813,734 19.07
Yours truly,
UOB Kay Hian (BVI) Limited
Vg
thorized direcy
im Seng Bee
Page 1

Letter of Confirmation on Non-Disposal of Securities During Tender Offer of
UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Public Company Limited



Yours truly,

UOB Kay Hian Private Limited

| .
—
|\

Authorized director
Oh Whee Mian

Page 2
Letter of Confirmation on Non-Disposal of Securities During Tender Offer of
UCB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Public Company Limited



Yours truly,

UOB Kay Hian (Hong Kong) Limited

N

V/

Authw
Lim S

Page 3
Letter of Confirmation on Non-Disposal of Securities During Tender Offer of
UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Public Company Limited
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UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

The directors present their statement together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group and statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial
year ended 31 December 2024.

In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of
financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company as set out on pages 10 to 97 are drawn
up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at
31 December 2024, and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and
changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then ended and at the date of this statement, there
are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

1 DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:

Wee Ee-chao

Tang Wee Loke

Kuah Boon Wee

Andrew Suckling

Tay Wee Jin, Michael

Leong Kok Mun, Edmund

Jason Leow Juan Thong (Appointed on 1 May 2024)

2 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any
arrangement whose object is to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares or debentures in the Company or any other body corporate.



UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the
share capital and debentures of the Company and related corporations as recorded in the register of
directors’ shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 164 of the Companies Act 1967 except
as follows:

Shareholdings in which

Shareholdings registered directors are deemed
in name of directors to have an interest
At beginning At beginning
Name of directors of year or date of year or date
and company in which of appointment, At end of appointment, At end
interests are held if later of year if later of year

The Company
(Ordinary shares)

Wee Ee-chao - - 306,773,493 329,756,524
Tang Wee Loke 42,168,232 45,327,416 3,007,608 2,098,465
Andrew Suckling - - 29,581 31,797

By virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act 1967, Mr Wee Ee-chao is deemed to have an interest in
all the related corporations of the Company.
The directors’ interests in the shares of the Company at 21 January 2025 were the same as at

31 December 2024.

SHARE OPTIONS

(a) Options to take up unissued shares
During the financial year, no options to take up unissued shares of the Company or any
corporation in the Group were granted.

(b) Options exercised
During the financial year, there were no shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group
issued by virtue of the exercise of an option to take up unissued shares.

(c) Unissued shares under option

At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or any
corporation in the Group under option.



UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

5 AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company, consisting all non-executive directors, is chaired by Mr Kuah
Boon Wee, an independent director, and includes Mr Jason Leow Juan Thong, an independent director,
Mr Andrew Suckling, an independent director and Mr Leong Kok Mun, Edmund, a non-independent
director. The Audit Committee has met four times since the last Annual General Meeting ("fAGM”) and
has reviewed the following, where relevant, with the executive directors and external and internal
auditors of the Company:

(a) the audit plans and results of the internal auditors’ examination and evaluation of the Group’s
systems of internal accounting controls;

(b) the Group’s financial and operating results and accounting policies;

(c) the audit plans of the external auditors;

(d) the financial statements of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group
before their submission to the directors of the Company and external auditor’s report on those

financial statements;

(e) the half-yearly and annual announcements as well as the related press releases on the results
and financial position of the Company and the Group;

(f)  the co-operation and assistance given by the management to the Group’s external auditors; and
(g) the re-appointment of the external auditors of the Group.

The Audit Committee has full access to and has the co-operation of the management and has been
given the resources required for it to discharge its function properly. It also has full discretion to invite
any director and executive officer to attend its meetings. The external and internal auditors have

unrestricted access to the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the directors the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP for
re-appointment as external auditors of the Group at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.



UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

6 AUDITORS

The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF\&)F THE DIRECTORS

Wee Ee-chao

r/ . \'{\“ .............................
Tang Wee Loke

Singapore
28 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF

UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of UOB-Kay Hian Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group
and the statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group and the statement of changes in equity of the
Company for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy
information, as set out on pages 10 to 97.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of
financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance
with the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
(International) ("SFRS(I)s”) so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and of the consolidated financial
performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group and of the changes
in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing ("SSAs”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and
Corporate Regulatory Authority Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and
Accounting Entities ("ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Deloitte & Touche LLP (Unique Entity Mo, TOBLLO721A) is an accounting limited liability partnership registered in Singapore under the Limited Liability Partnerships Act (Chapter 163A)



Deloitte.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF

UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED

Key audit matters

How the matters were addressed in the audit

Trade and other receivables,
trade payables and debts issued

(a) Allowance for impairment of
trade and other receivables

Refer to Notes 3(ii)(b), 4(c)(iv)-(v)
and 8 to the financial statements
respectively.

Trade and other receivables, other
than those designated as referenced
assets in respect of certain debts
issued by the Group, comprise
customers’ portfolio from two key
business activities, i.e. stockbroking
and money lending.

Trade and other receivables arising
from money lending activities consist
of larger loan financings that are
monitored individually by
management, and are secured by
either marketable or non-marketable
assets held by the Group as
collaterals. The assessment of
allowance for impairment is therefore
based on application of judgement on
the repayment abilities of the
individual borrower, as well as the fair
value of the collaterals and other
relevant factors.

We have tested the design and implementation of related key
controls to determine that appropriate oversight from
management and credit committee had been exercised within the
credit review and impairment processes.

We have performed credit assessment and assessed the specific
allowance for individual impaired customers and loans from credit
lending activities that are credit-impaired, on a sample basis, by
critically assessing the realisation of collateral and other possible
sources of repayment.

We have evaluated the expected credit losses of selected loans to
assess if management’'s methodologies and estimates are
appropriate, including the reasonableness of key inputs and
assumptions used.

We have evaluated the consistency of key assumptions applied
by management in the valuation of non-marketable collaterals
and subjected these collaterals to our testing, including
understanding of the relevant industry trends and
macroeconomic factors to assess the validity of the collateral
valuations.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF

UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I)s, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal
accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss
from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded
as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability
of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.



Deloitte.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF

UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

(a) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

(b) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

(c) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

(d) Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

(e) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

(F)  Plan and perform the Group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
Group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.



Deloitte.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF

UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safequards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by
those subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly

kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Mr. Chua How Kiat.

@&D;ﬂ{ ¥ TM L“‘Q

Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

28 March 2025



UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2024

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Outstanding contracts receivable
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets

Other current assets

Derivative financial instruments
Total current assets

Non-current assets

Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Goodwill

Other intangible assets
Subsidiaries

Right-of-use assets

Trading rights in Exchanges
Memberships in Exchanges
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Outstanding contracts payable
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Lease liabilities

Debts issued

Income tax payable

Derivative financial instruments
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

7(a)

10
11

12
13
14
15

16(a)

16(b)
17
18

7(b)

20
21
22

11

19
21
18

The Group The Company

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2024 2023 2024 2023

$ $ $ $

918,274,890 1,036,459,055 2,348,718 238,956
801,492,426 679,925,474 - -
2,127,108,339 1,652,874,780 - -
300,878,742 304,567,638 - -
79,677,251 62,841,308 294,415,777 252,711,132
114,202,061 70,624,051 - -
4,341,633,709 3,807,292,306 296,764,495 252,950,088
223,675,268 131,323,028 374,096 197,625
1,344,693 9,835,385 - -
1,057,401 10,730,685 - -
- - 363,860,486 363,860,486
10,402,311 19,590,744 - -
91,287 89,490 - -
833,885 835,520 - -
12,302,903 11,679,900 - -
2,255,873 2,432,443 - -
251,963,621 186,517,195 364,234,582 364,058,111
4,593,597,330 3,993,809,501 660,999,077 617,008,199
774,240,452 661,574,242 - -
657,001,229 473,882,709 58,761,271 55,502,749
597,044,834 601,533,030 126,655,963 42,887,000
6,724,524 9,296,489 - -
224,562,258 223,735,697 - -
26,992,758 16,112,022 614,161 809,041
114,214,870 70,604,713 - -
2,400,780,925 2,056,738,902 186,031,395 99,198,790
52,610,204 10,778,557 - -
4,247,858 11,716,152 - -
1,222,353 2,531,305 - -
58,080,415 25,026,014 - -
2,458,861,340 2,081,764,916 186,031,395 99,198,790
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UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (cont’'d)
31 December 2024

The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Note 2024 2023 2024 2023
$ $ $ $

EQUITY
Capital, reserves and

non-controlling interests
Share capital 23 348,412,046 305,409,773 348,412,046 305,409,773
Reserves 24 (33,255,291) (71,326,709) - -
Retained earnings 1,801,808,399 1,659,120,355 126,555,636 212,399,636
Equity attributable to owners

of the Company 2,116,965,154 1,893,203,419 474,967,682 517,809,409
Non-controlling interests 17,770,836 18,841,166 - -
Total equity 2,134,735,990 1,912,044,585 474,967,682 517,809,409
Total liabilities and equity 4,593,597,330 3,993,809,501 660,999,077 617,008,199
Clients’ trust/segregated

accounts
Bank balances:

- with related parties 2,373,644,660 2,203,955,661 - -

- with non-related banks 2,241,058,502 1,710,177,145 - -
Margin with clearing house 123,915,103 37,570,542 - -
Investment in government debt

securities 7,976,901 5,971,463 - -

Less: Amounts held in trust

(4,746,595,166) (3,957,674,811)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 December 2024

Revenue

Net foreign exchange gain
Commission expense

Staff costs

Finance expense

Other operating expenses
Profit before income tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income:

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss

Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit plans
Income tax relating to items that will not be
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year,
net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share:
Basic and diluted

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Note

25

26
27
28

29

30,37

29

30

30

31

The Group

2024

2023

$

670,250,347
27,957,139
(86,952,737)
(212,292,169)
(38,556,709)
(105,649,172)

$

591,502,732
5,606,428
(71,840,680)
(171,325,926)
(52,496,784)
(111,211,735)

254,756,699 190,234,035
(31,080,490) (19,454,804)
223,676,209 170,779,231
1,632,022 (245,855)
(259,885) 49,142
1,372,137 (196,713)
38,167,971 (21,555,898)
39,540,108 (21,752,611)
263,216,317 149,026,620
224,216,990 170,360,792
(540,781) 418,439
223,676,209 170,779,231
263,173,172 148,819,221
43,145 207,399
263,216,317 149,026,620
24.42 cents 19.08 cents




UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 December 2024

The Group
Balance as at 1 January 2023

Total comprehensive income for the year:
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive (loss) income
for the year
Total
Transactions with owners,
recognised directly in equity:
Share buyback
Final dividend for 2022 paid
Acquisition of additional interest in a
subsidiary
Payment of dividend by a subsidiary
Balance as at 31 December 2023

Total comprehensive income for the year:
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
for the year
Total
Transactions with owners,
recognised directly in equity:
Final dividend for 2023 paid
Transfer to statutory reserve
Acquisition of additional interest in a
subsidiary
Payment of dividend by a subsidiary
Balance as at 31 December 2024

Equity
Foreign attributable
currency to owners Non-
Share Equity translation Statutory Retained of the controlling
Note capital reserve reserves reserve earnings Company interests Total
[Note 24(c)]  [Note 24(a)] [Note 24(b)]
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
288,618,569 1,967,587 (54,056,961) 1,828,324 1,541,946,965 1,780,304,484 19,792,437 1,800,096,921
- - - - 170,360,792 170,360,792 418,439 170,779,231
- - (21,380,301) 12,687 (173,957) (21,541,571) (211,040) (21,752,611)
- - (21,380,301) 12,687 170,186,835 148,819,221 207,399 149,026,620
23 (10,451,623) - - - - (10,451,623) - (10,451,623)
32 27,242,827 - - - (53,013,445) (25,770,618) - (25,770,618)
14 - 290,369 - 11,586 - 301,955 (960,378) (658,423)
- - - - - - (198,292) (198,292)
305,409,773 2,257,956 (75,437,262) 1,852,597 1,659,120,355 1,893,203,419 18,841,166 1,912,044,585
- - - - 224,216,990 224,216,990 (540,781) 223,676,209
- - 37,621,630 54,545 1,280,007 38,956,182 583,926 39,540,108
- - 37,621,630 54,545 225,496,997 263,173,172 43,145 263,216,317
32 43,002,273 - - - (82,806,111) (39,803,838) - (39,803,838)
- - - 2,842 (2,842) - - -
14 - 382,232 - 10,169 - 392,401 (1,033,097) (640,696)
- - - - - - (80,378) (80,378)
348,412,046 2,640,188 (37,815,632) 1,920,153 1,801,808,399 2,116,965,154 17,770,836 2,134,735,990
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UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (cont'd)
Year ended 31 December 2024

Share Retained
Note capital earnings Total
The Company $ $ $
Balance as at 1 January 2023 288,618,569 261,408,531 550,027,100
Profit for the year, representing
total comprehensive income
for the year - 4,004,550 4,004,550

Transactions with owners, recognised
directly in equity:

Share buyback 23 (10,451,623) - (10,451,623)

Final dividend for 2022 paid 32 27,242,827 (53,013,445) (25,770,618)
Balance as at 31 December 2023 305,409,773 212,399,636 517,809,409
Loss for the year, representing

total comprehensive loss

for the year - (3,037,889) (3,037,889)
Transactions with owners, recognised

directly in equity:

Final dividend for 2023 paid 32 43,002,273 (82,806,111) (39,803,838)
Balance as at 31 December 2024 348,412,046 126,555,636 474,967,682

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2024

Operating activities

Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Net gain on disposal/write-off of property,
plant and equipment
Impairment of goodwill
Dividend income
Allowance for trade and other receivables
Interest expense
Exchange differences

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital

Other financial assets

Trade, outstanding contracts and other receivables

Trade, outstanding contracts and other payables

Debts issued
Cash (used in) generated from operations

Interest paid
Income tax paid
Net cash (used in) from operating activities

15

17
15

12

27

The Group
2024 2023
$ $

254,756,699 190,234,035
4,248,463 7,529,534
7,390,721 7,117,991
(48,182) (55,919)
9,609,632 1,254,222
(391,095) (1,454,581)
15,728,878 17,471,394
38,556,709 52,496,784
(32,296,705) 1,676,453
297,555,120 276,269,913
12,581,915 (34,534,985)
(739,048,673) 123,097,444
395,096,710 108,268,785
853,865 (16,268,010)
(32,961,063) 456,833,147
(37,732,134) (51,720,622)
(21,221,987) (21,019,728)
(91,915,184) 384,092,797




UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (cont’'d

Year ended 31 December 2024

Investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Payments for membership in exchanges

Dividends received from quoted/unquoted securities

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Payment to non-controlling interests for additional
interest in a subsidiary

Payment to non-controlling interests for dividend

Repayment of lease liabilities

Net repayment of short-term bank loans

Dividends paid

Purchase of treasury shares

Net cash used in financing activities

Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of
cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

16

17

16(b)
25

14

20
20
32
23

The Group
2024 2023
$ $

(4,752,848) (4,153,982)
280,789 76,219
- (629,708)
391,095 1,454,581
(4,080,964) (3,252,890)
(640,696) (658,423)
(80,378) (198,292)
(9,471,614) (8,036,474)
(15,524,825) (532,489,872)
(39,803,838) (25,770,618)
- (10,451,623)
(65,521,351) (577,605,302)
32,296,705 (1,676,453)
(129,220,794) (198,441,848)
1,034,760,293 1,233,202,141
905,539,499 1,034,760,293




UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

1.1

1.2

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company (Registration No. 200004464C) is incorporated in Singapore with its principal place of
business and registered office at 8 Anthony Road, #01-01, Singapore 229957. The Company is listed
on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries are stockbroking, futures broking, structured lending, investment trading, margin
financing, investment holding and provision of nominee and research services, which are disclosed in
Note 36 to the financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and statement of financial position and statement
of changes in equity of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 were authorised for issue
by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025.

BASIS OF PREPARATION - The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis,
except as disclosed in the material accounting policy information, and are drawn up in accordance with
the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International)
("SFRS(I)s"). The financial statements are expressed in Singapore dollars.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS - In the current year, the Group and the Company
have applied all the new and revised SFRS(I) Accounting Standards that are mandatorily effective for
an accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2024. Their adoption has not had any material
impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

SUBSIDIARIES - Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control is achieved when the Group
has power over the investee, is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee, and has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. Details of the Group’s significant
subsidiaries and composition of the Group are disclosed in Note 36.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated financial statements of the Group incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when
the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control of the
subsidiary. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to align
their accounting policies with those of the Group. All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between the members of the Group are eliminated
on consolidation. Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control
are accounted for as equity transactions.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity and are
initially measured at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. Subsequent to the acquisition date, the carrying amounts of non-controlling interests
are adjusted for the non-controlling interests’ share of changes in equity. Losses are attributed to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal recognised in profit or loss
is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), less liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All exchange differences
accumulated in the foreign exchange translation reserve in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss. The fair value of the investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of the investment under SFRS(I) 9.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less
any impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS - The Group accounts for the above business combination using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in the business combination is the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of cash transferred by the Group and liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree, in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred in the consolidated financial statements.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at
their fair value, except that deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised and measured in accordance
with SFRS(I) 1-12.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred and the amount of
non-controlling interests in the acquiree measured at fair value, over the net acquisition-date amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

The contingent consideration payable is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as
part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. It is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT - Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique.
In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability which market participants would take into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date.

Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
SFRS(I) 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope of SFRS(I) 16 Leases,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as value in
use in SFRS(I) 1-36 Impairment of Assets.

Fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

a) Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement date;

b) Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

c) Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value (except for trade receivables that do not have a
significant financing component which are measured at transaction price), net of transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets (other than those at fair value
through profit or loss). Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Classification of financial assets

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost,
fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI’) or fair value through profit or loss (‘"FVTPL")
based on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVTOCI):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and

. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL).

Despite the foregoing, the Group may make the following irrevocable election/designation at initial
recognition of a financial asset:

. the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if certain criteria are met; and

. the Group may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI

criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and
of allocating interest income over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of
the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt
instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for
any loss allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial
asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured
subsequently at amortised cost and at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in Note 25 to the financial statements.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

. Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an
equity investment that is neither held for trading nor a contingent consideration arising from a
business combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition.

. Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified
as at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost criteria or the
FVTOCI criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation
eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (so called
‘accounting mismatch’) that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the
gains and losses on them on different bases.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging
relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned
on the financial asset and is included in Note 28 to the financial statements. Fair value is determined
in the manner described in Note 4(c)(vii).
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Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in
that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. These are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the
"Net foreign exchange gain" line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on investments in debt
instruments that are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, lease receivables, trade and other
receivables and contract assets, as well as on financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments.
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

For trade and other receivables, the expected credit losses ("ECL"”) are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

The Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount
equal to 12-month (“12m"”) ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition
instead of on evidence of a financial asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or an actual
default occurring.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over
the expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within
12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from
economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information that relate to the Group’s core operations.
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In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial
instrument, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the
debtor, or the length of time or the extent to which the fair value of a financial asset has been
less than its amortised cost;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;
. significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; and
. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological

environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the
financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil
its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating
of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an external rating is
not available, the asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that the counterparty
has a strong financial position and there are no past due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments, the date that the Group becomes a party to
the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of
assessing the financial instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a financial guarantee contract, the Group considers
the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract. For loan commitment, the
Group considers changes in the risk of a default occurring on the loan to which a loan commitment
relates.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been

a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience indicates that financial assets that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable:

. when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

. information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

C) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default
(i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of
the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information as described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts and loan
commitments, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with
any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by default date determined based on
historical trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing needs of the debtors, and
other relevant forward-looking information.
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For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. For a lease receivable, the
cash flows used for determining the expected credit losses is consistent with the cash flows used in
measuring the lease receivable in accordance with SFRS(I) 16 Leases.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, the expected
loss allowance is the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

Where lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis to cater for cases where evidence of significant
increases in credit risk at the individual instrument level may not yet be available, the financial
instruments are grouped on the following basis:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade and other receivables and amounts due
from customers are each assessed as a separate group. Loans to related parties are assessed
for expected credit losses on an individual basis);

. Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions
for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to
12m ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which the simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises
its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s

carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a Group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a Group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity.

No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method
or at FVTPL.

However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for
derecognition or when the continuing involvement approach applies, financial guarantee contracts
issued by the Group, and commitments issued by the Group are measured in accordance with the
specific accounting policies set out below.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is 1) contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held for trading, or 3) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if either:
. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated
and effective hedging instrument.
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A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

. such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency
that would otherwise arise; or

. the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

. it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and SFRS(I) 9 permits
the entire combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are not part of a designated hedging
relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the
financial liabilities.

However, for financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value
of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised in
other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit
risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
The remaining amount of change in the fair value of liability is recognised in profit or loss. Changes in
fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised in other comprehensive
income are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to retained
earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability.

The principal category of financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL is the credit-linked notes issued by
the Group. These credit-linked notes are designated as at fair value through profit or loss to better
reflect the underlying intention of the Group to manage and evaluate its performance on a fair value
basis.

Gains or losses on financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments issued by the Group that are
designated by the Group as at FVTPL are recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4(c)(vii).

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination,
2) held-for-trading, or 3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and
of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the
amortised cost of a financial liability.
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Financial guarantee contract liabilities

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by a Group entity are initially measured at their fair values and,
if not designated as at FVTPL and do not arise from a transfer of a financial asset, are subsequently
measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with SFRS(I) 9; and

. the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised
in accordance with the revenue recognition policies.

The Company has issued corporate guarantees to banks for borrowings of its subsidiaries. These
guarantees are financial guarantees as they require the Company to reimburse the banks if the
subsidiaries fail to meet principal or interest payments when due in accordance with the terms of their
borrowings.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured at amortised cost
as at each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the
amortised cost of the instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the “Net
foreign exchange gain” line item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign
currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period. For financial liabilities that
are measured as at FVTPL, the foreign exchange component forms part of the fair value gains or losses
and is recognised in profit or loss for financial liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest
rate and foreign exchange rate risks, including foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate
swaps. Further details of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in Note 11 to the financial
statements.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are entered into
and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value as at each reporting date. The resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a
hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature
of the hedge relationship.
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A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a
negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability. Derivatives are not offset in the financial
statements unless the Group has both a legally enforceable right and intention to offset. A derivative
is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument
is more than 12 months and it is not due to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives
are presented as current assets or current liabilities.

Embedded derivatives

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid contract that also includes a non-derivative
host — with the effect that some of the cash flows of the combined instrument vary in a way similar to
a stand-alone derivative.

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts with a financial asset host within the scope of SFRS(I) 9 are
not separated. The entire hybrid contract is classified and subsequently measured as either amortised
cost or fair value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts with hosts that are not financial assets within the scope of
SFRS(I) 9 (e.g. financial liabilities) are treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition
of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and
the host contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

If the hybrid contract is a quoted financial liability, instead of separating the embedded derivative, the
Group generally designates the whole hybrid contract at FVTPL.

An embedded derivative is presented as a non-current asset or non-current liability if the remaining

maturity of the hybrid instrument to which the embedded derivative relates is more than 12 months
and is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months.

LEASES

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to its leased property.

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the
contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sublease as two
separate contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the
right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the
Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to
reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the
leases.

When a contract includes lease and non-lease components, the Group applies SFRS(I) 15 to allocate
the consideration under the contract to each component.
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The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the
lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

The Group has applied the practical expedient under SFRS(I) 16 that permits a lessee not to separate
non-lease components, and instead account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a
single arrangement.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be
readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise fixed lease payments
(including in-substance fixed payments).

A right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost comprising the initial lease liability, any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date (less any lease incentives received), any initial
direct costs and any restoration costs. The right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The right-of-use assets are depreciated over the
lease terms commencing from the date of the lease, and are tested for impairment in accordance with
the policy similar to that adopted for property, plant and equipment.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on
the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made. Lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate when there is a change in the lease term upon exercising extension
options not previously included in the determination of the lease term. A corresponding adjustment is
made to the related right-of-use asset.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values
over their useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases:

Buildings Over the terms of lease from 5% to 62/;%
Leasehold land Over the terms of lease of 62/;%
Leasehold improvements 16 to 331/;%

Furniture, fittings and office equipment 20 to 331/5%

Computer equipment and software 20 to 331/5%

Communication equipment 20 to 331/3%

Motor vehicles 18 to 331/;%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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GOODWILL - Goodwill arising from business combination is not amortised but is reviewed for
impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, the goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested
for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.
If the recoverable amount (estimated based on the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use) of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets
of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss
on goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of a cash generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired separately

Customer portfolio database acquired separately are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation
(where they have finite useful lives) and accumulated impairment losses. Customer portfolio database
have a definite useful lives and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives
of 2 years. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognized separately from goodwill are
recognised initially at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as
intangible assets acquired separately.

MEMBERSHIPS IN EXCHANGES - Memberships in The Stock Exchange of Thailand and Indonesia Stock
Exchange are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Where an indication of impairment
exists, the carrying amount of the memberships are assessed and written down immediately to its
recoverable amount.

TRADING RIGHTS IN EXCHANGES - Trading rights in The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, Hong
Kong Futures Exchange and the Philippine Stock Exchange are stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of the trading rights
is assessed and written down immediately to its recoverable amount.
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IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL - At each reporting date,
the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

Where an asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested for impairment at least annually and whenever
there is an indication at the end of a reporting period that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease
and to the extent that the impairment loss is greater than the related revaluation surplus, the excess
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when the recoverable amount of an asset is less than
its carrying amount, unless the asset is carried at revalued amount.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that the increase does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

SECURITIES BORROWED AND LENT - Securities borrowed and lent are accounted for as collateralised
borrowings. The amounts of cash collaterals advanced for securities borrowed and cash collaterals
received for securities lent are recorded in the statement of financial position under “Other current
assets - Amounts deposited with lenders of securities” and “Trade and other payables - Cash collaterals
held for securities lent to clients” respectively.

Market value of securities is determined by reference to the quoted prices of the respective Stock
Exchanges at the close of business at the end of the reporting period.

PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive)
as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect
of time value of money is not material).
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When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement
will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

TREASURY SHARES - Ordinary shares of the Company reacquired are accounted for as treasury shares.
Consideration paid, including directly attributable costs, is presented as a deduction from equity.
Subsequent cancellation, sale or reissuance of treasury shares is recognised as changes in equity.

REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group
expected to be entitled in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control of a product or service to a
customer. Revenue is reduced for goods and services tax, rebates and discounts, and after eliminating
sales within the Group. Revenue is recognised as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers - at a point in time

Commission income

Commission income is recognised as earned on the date the contracts are entered into.

Fee income
Fee income from custodian, management, shares withdrawal and arrangement fees are recognised
during the year in which the services are rendered.

Revenue from contracts with customers - over time

Advisory fees

Advisory fees are recognised over time, based on the various performance obligations stated in the
individual contracts.

Other income

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the

effective interest rate applicable.

Trading income

Trading income relates mainly to proprietary trading entered into by the Group and is recognised on
a mark-to-market or realisation basis.
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Dividend income

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment
have been established.

BORROWING COSTS - Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered the services entitling them to the
contributions. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore
Central Provident Fund, are accounted for as payments to defined contribution plans where the Group’s
obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the
Projected Unit Credit Method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each annual
reporting period. Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling
(if applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding interest) are recognised immediately in the
statement of financial position with a charge or credit to other comprehensive income in the period in
which they occur. Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income are not reclassified.

Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs, or
when the Group recognises related restructuring costs or termination benefits, if earlier. Gains or
losses on settlement of a defined benefit plan are recognised when the settlement occurs. Net interest
is calculated by applying a discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Defined benefit
costs are split into three categories:

. Service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on
curtailments and settlements);

. Net interest expense or income; and
. Remeasurement.

Curtailment gains and losses are accounted for as past service costs.

EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred tax. It is recognised
in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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Current tax payable represents the amount expected to be paid to taxation authorities on taxable
profit for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous periods. The amount of current tax payable is the
best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid that reflects the uncertainty related to income
taxes.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from (i) initial recognition of
goodwill; or (ii) initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that is not a business
combination, and at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests only if it is probable that future taxable
amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled, or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts and the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and they relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority.

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-12: International Tax Reform - Pillar Two Model Rules

The scope of SFRS(I) 1-12 was amended to clarify that the standard applies to income taxes arising
from tax law enacted or substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two model rules published by
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development ("OECD”), including tax law that
implements qualified domestic minimum top-up taxes described in those rules.

The amendments introduce a temporary exception to the accounting requirements for deferred taxes

in SFRS(I) 1-12, so that an entity would neither recognise nor disclose information about deferred tax
assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes.
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Following the amendments, the Group is required to disclose that it has applied the exception and to
disclose separately its current tax expense (income) related to Pillar Two income taxes.

As at 31 December 2024, Singapore has enacted the Multinational Enterprise (Minimum Tax) Act 2024
and published the related subsidiary legislations to implement the Global Anti-Base Erosion Model
Rules (“Pillar Two"”) relating to top-up tax under the Income Inclusion Rule (“IIR”) and the
Domestic Top-up Tax (*"DTT"), both which will take effect from 1 January 2025.

The amendments have no impact on the Group in the current year as management has determined
that the Group is not in scope of Pillar Two as it does not meet the consolidated revenue threshold of
EUR 750 million in at least two of the four preceding fiscal years, as set out under the Global
Anti-Base Erosion (“"GloBE") Model Rules.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION - The individual financial statements of each
Group entity are measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (its functional currency). The consolidated financial statements of the Group
and the statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company are
presented in Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation
currency for the consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the respective Group entities, transactions in currencies other
than the entity’s functional currency are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the
transactions. At each reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated. Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise except for exchange differences on transactions entered into to hedge certain
foreign currency risks.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the reporting date. Goodwill and fair
value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Income and expense items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the date of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a foreign exchange
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Upon the disposal of the entire interest in a foreign operation during the year, all of the exchange
differences accumulated in the foreign exchange translation reserve in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

SEGMENT REPORTING - An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business
activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that
relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components.

The Group determines and presents operating segments based on information that is internally
provided to the Managing Director (*MD”) and the Board of Directors ("BOD"”), who are the Group’s
chief operating decision makers. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by
the Group’s MD and BOD to make decision about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess
its performance.
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Cash and bank balances comprise cash on hand and fixed deposits
which are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Cash equivalents include short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
to a known amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather for investment
or other purposes.

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and bank
balances as described above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-term
borrowings in the statement of financial position.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In applying the Group’s material accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is
required to make judgements (other than those involving estimations) that have a significant impact
on the amounts recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

(i) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s material accounting policies

Management is of the opinion that any instances of application of judgements are not expected
to have a significant impact on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

(ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is
required in determining the capital allowances and deductibility of certain expenses during
the estimation of the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made. Details of income taxes are provided in Notes 18 and 29 to the
financial statements. The income tax expense for the year ended 31 December 2024
is $31,080,490 (31 December 2023 : $19,454,804). Deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities as at 31 December 2024 amounted to $2,255,873 (31 December 2023 :
$2,432,443) and $1,222,353 (31 December 2023 : $2,531,305) respectively. Income tax
payable as at 31 December 2024 is $26,992,758 (31 December 2023 : $16,112,022).
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(b)

(©)

(d)

Impairment of trade and other receivables

Management reviews its trade and other receivables for ECL at least quarterly. When
measuring ECL, the Group uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking information,
which is based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and
how these drivers will affect each other. Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising
on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those
that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from collateral and
integral credit enhancements. Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring
ECL. Probability of default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time
horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of
future conditions. In determining these, management makes judgements as to whether
there is observable data indicating that there has been a significant change in the ability
of the debtor to repay amounts owing to the Group, or whether there have been significant
changes with adverse effect in the economic or legal environment in which the debtor
operates in.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of trade and other receivables is
$2,350,783,607 (31 December 2023 : $1,784,197,808) net of allowance for impairment
of $65,796,278 (31 December 2023 : $49,190,842).

Management makes judgements as to whether an impairment loss should be recorded in
profit or loss. In determining this, management uses estimates based on historical loss
experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The methodology and
assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are
reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between the estimated loss and actual loss
experience.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate and growth rate in order to calculate
present value. The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of the reporting period was
$1,057,401 (31 December 2023 : $10,730,685) after an impairment loss of $9,609,632
(31 December 2023 : $1,254,222) was recognised during the year. Details of the
impairment loss calculation are provided in Note 12 to the financial statements.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting
purposes. In estimating the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Management and finance department,
in consultation with external experts, determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements.

The Regional Finance and Operations Director reports to the Board of Directors of the
Company half yearly to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and
liabilities. These valuations will be approved by the Board of Directors. Information about
the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of various assets and
liabilities are disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT

(a) Categories of financial instruments

The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

Note The Group The Company
$ $
At 31 December 2024
Financial assets
At fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL):

Mandatorily measured at FVTPL 9 259,809,818 -

Designated as at FVTPL 8 177,199,122 -
At amortised cost (including cash and

cash equivalents) 4,010,914,899 297,126,217
Derivative financial instruments 11 114,202,061 -
Financial liabilities
At FVTPL:

Designated as at FVTPL 19, 22 226,889,536 -
At amortised cost 2,078,569,441 185,417,234
Lease liabilities M 21 10,972,382 -
Derivative financial instruments 11 114,214,870 -
At 31 December 2023
Financial assets
At fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL):

Mandatorily measured at FVTPL 9 273,827,883 -

Designated as at FVTPL 8 189,955,547 -
At amortised cost (including cash and

cash equivalents) 3,409,974,085 253,147,713
Derivative financial instruments 11 70,624,051 -
Financial liabilities
At FVTPL:

Designated as at FVTPL 19, 22 196,454,272 -
At amortised cost 1,775,049,963 98,389,749
Lease liabilities () 21 21,012,641 -
Derivative financial instruments 11 70,604,713 -

® Lease liabilities are financial instruments, although they are outside the scope of
certain parts of SFRS(I) 7/SFRS(I) 9. Lease liabilities are within scope for SFRS(I) 7
disclosure (except for disclosure of fair value) and within the scope of SFRS(I) 9
de-recognition.
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(b)

(©)

(i) Trade and other receivables designated as at FVTPL

At the end of the reporting period, there are no significant concentrations of credit risk for
trade and other receivables designated as at FVTPL.

The carrying amount reflected above represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk for such trade and other receivables.

As at 31 December 2024, the change in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk
amounted to $Nil (31 December 2023 : a negative of $2,453,337).
(ii)  Credit derivatives over trade and other receivables at fair value

There are no credit derivatives over trade and other receivables designated as at fair value.

(iii)  Financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL

As at 31 December 2024, the change in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk
amounted to $Nil (31 December 2023 : a negative of $2,453,377).

The carrying amounts of financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL approximate their
maturity amounts.

Financial instruments subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar
agreements

The Group does not have any financial instruments which are subject to offsetting, enforceable
master netting arrangements or similar netting agreements that are in scope of the offsetting
disclosure.

The Company does not have any financial instruments which are subject to offsetting, enforceable
master netting arrangements or similar netting agreements.

Financial risk management policies and objectives

The Group’s activities undertaken by its subsidiaries in each country of operations expose it to a
range of financial risks. These include market risk (including foreign exchange risk, interest rate
risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group has a system of controls in place to manage these risks to an acceptable level without
stifling its business. The management continually monitors the Group’s risk management process
to ensure that an appropriate balance between risk and control is achieved. Risk management
policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the
Group’s activities. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance. The Group uses financial instruments such as foreign currency
borrowings, foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps to manage certain risk exposures.
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Financial risk management of the Group is carried out by the Credit Committee and finance
department of the Company and its respective subsidiaries. The Credit Committee approves the
financial risk management policies of the Company and its subsidiaries. Management will review
and approve inputs used in the valuation of these financial instruments carried at fair value.
Internal audit undertakes both regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk management controls and
procedures and these are reported to the Credit Committee.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in
which the Group manages and measures the risk. Market risks exposures are measured using
sensitivity analysis indicated below.

(i)  Foreign exchange risk management

Exposures to foreign currencies are monitored closely to ensure that there are no
significant adverse financial effects to the Group from changes in the exchange rates. The
Group manages significant net exposures in each of the foreign currencies through foreign
currency borrowings and foreign exchange contracts.

The Group as a policy hedges all trade receivables and trade payables denominated in
foreign currencies although it may from time to time have some short term exposures due
to timing differences. The Group enters into forward foreign exchange contracts and
foreign currencies borrowings to hedge its foreign currency risk.

The Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risks arises from:

. dealing in securities denominated in foreign currencies;
. having assets and liabilities denominated in non-functional currencies;
. holding non-local currencies (primarily in United States dollar, Hong Kong dollar,

Malaysian ringgit and Thai baht) for working capital purposes; and
. investments in foreign subsidiaries primarily in Hong Kong dollar, Malaysian ringgit

and Thai baht, whose net assets are exposed to foreign exchange risk at the end of
the reporting period.

40



UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting date are as follows:

At 31 December 2024
Non-derivative financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Outstanding contracts receivable
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets

Other current assets

Singapore United States Hong Kong Malaysian Thai
dollar dollar dollar ringgit baht Others*
$ $ $ $ $ $

3,466,179 248,909,494 123,718,791 49,732,437 113,837,472 187,326,797
7,887 301,049,857 198,797,254 68,284,008 73,718,156 50,024,608
431,122 643,268,671 643,906,972 54,756,829 54,606,068 181,272,115
1 48,935,259 36,534,260 73,783,207 33,259,159 54,584,776
4,287 11,048,064 20,144,413 15,893,563 8,280,331 1,804,497
3,909,476 1,253,211,345 1,023,101,690 262,450,044 283,701,186 475,012,793
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Singapore United States Hong Kong Malaysian Thai
dollar dollar dollar ringgit baht Others*
$ $ $ $ $ $
At 31 December 2024
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Outstanding contracts payable 332,182 328,553,075 176,630,199 45,097,775 70,902,674 50,580,921
Trade and other payables 14,343 272,216,903 11,603,490 18,462,130 19,195,874 127,243,533
Borrowings - 105,866,177 140,306,705 - - 51,799,333
Debts issued - 120,244,222 32,412,000 - - 71,906,036
346,525 826,880,377 360,952,394 63,559,905 90,098,548 301,529,823

Net financial assets 3,562,951 426,330,968 662,149,296 198,890,139 193,602,638 173,482,970
Less: Net financial assets

denominated in the

respective entities’

functional currencies - (900,021) (653,469,069) (173,340,693) (153,872,722) (25,562,373)
Intercompany balances - (156,684) 29,846,512 49,000,754 1,985,485 (10,693,247)
Currency forwards 48,141 3,442,766 256,403 - 152,062 (469,046)
Foreign currencies trust balances - 20,253,051 23,518,128 (2,423,253) (38,987,411) (169,915,154)
Currency exposures 3,611,092 448,970,080 62,301,270 72,126,947 2,880,052 (33,156,850)
* The Group’s exposures to other currencies include exposures to Indonesian Rupiah, Australian Dollar, Sterling Pound and others.
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At 31 December 2023
Non-derivative financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Outstanding contracts receivable
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets

Other current assets

Singapore United States Hong Kong Malaysian Thai
dollar dollar dollar ringgit baht Others*
$ $ $ $ $ $

6,112,855 240,003,220 392,412,018 33,991,037 62,297,834 169,256,845
289,558 164,884,672 82,438,879 48,954,679 84,992,558 35,553,062
44,324 421,940,288 529,728,379 76,192,449 68,489,371 133,650,915
- 106,850,881 39,156,339 58,555,654 39,032,950 11,621,953
3,117,884 11,649,621 12,432,870 6,894,102 7,629,069 1,370,572
9,564,621 945,328,682 1,056,168,485 224,587,921 262,441,782 351,453,347

43



UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

Singapore United States Hong Kong Malaysian Thai
dollar dollar dollar ringgit baht Others*
$ $ $ $ $ $
At 31 December 2023
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Outstanding contracts payable 122,446 157,718,247 71,226,922 58,257,582 79,260,793 27,492,911
Trade and other payables 13,463,878 96,585,279 (2,438,735) 22,019,108 22,837,954 98,776,855
Borrowings - 91,423,267 351,883,727 - - 16,313,405
Debts issued - 123,197,940 31,200,250 - - 69,337,508
13,586,324 468,924,733 451,872,164 80,276,690 102,098,747 211,920,679
Net financial assets (4,021,703) 476,403,949 604,296,321 144,311,231 160,343,035 139,532,668
Less: Net financial assets
denominated in the
respective entities’
functional currencies - (1,018,304) (550,382,331) (147,297,426) (146,093,727) (24,617,271)
Intercompany balances - (197,282) (4,645,064) 47,769,136 286,005 (22,603,323)
Currency forwards - 7,499,325 1,013,135 - 70,156 (5,436,622)
Foreign currencies trust balances - (109,396,923) 107,755,027 (7,408,838) (11,521,038) (146,005,621)
Currency exposures (4,021,703) 373,290,765 158,037,088 37,374,103 3,084,431 (59,130,169)

* The Group’s exposures to other currencies include exposures to Indonesian Rupiah, Australian Dollar, Sterling Pound and others.
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Foreign currencies trust balances are monies held on behalf of clients and they do not form
a part of the statement of financial position of the Group.

The Company’s exposures to foreign currency are as follows:

Malaysian United States
ringgit dollar
$ $

At 31 December 2024
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents, representing

net currency exposure 1,250 173,827
At 31 December 2023
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents, representing

net currency exposure 1,196 161,619

Foreign currency sensitivity

A 5% strengthening of the relevant foreign currencies against the functional currency of
each Group entity at the end of the reporting period would increase (decrease) profit after
tax and equity by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables,
in particular interest rates, remain constant.

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
Profit Profit
after tax after tax
$ $

The Group
Singapore dollar 149,860 (166,901)
United States dollar 18,632,258 15,491,567
Hong Kong dollar 2,585,503 6,558,539
Malaysian ringgit 2,993,268 1,551,025
Thai baht 119,522 128,004
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(if)

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
Profit Profit
after tax after tax
$ $

The Company
United States dollar 7,214 6,707
Malaysian ringgit 52 50

A 5% weakening of the relevant foreign currencies against the functional currency of each
Group entity would have had the equal but opposite effect on profit after tax to the
amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

In determining the percentage of the currencies fluctuation, the Group has considered the
economic environment in which it operates.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year. Trading activity in foreign currency denominated securities is subject to fluctuations
that are cyclical in nature, resulting in uneven foreign currency exposure over the year.

Equity price risk management

The Group is exposed to market risk because of fluctuation in prices in the equity markets
of Singapore, Taiwan, Hong Kong, Philippines, Malaysia, Indonesia, Thailand and others.
Its exposure arises from:

. any equity positions that its subsidiaries may have taken that offer the Group the
opportunity for return through dividend income and fair value gains, but not
including quoted equity securities that are held by the Group for the purpose of
hedging clients’ open positions;

. falling value of collateral to support financing its subsidiaries provide to their
clients; and
. inability of its subsidiaries’ clients to pay for the losses which may arise from the

force-selling of clients’ positions.

The Group has adequate policies and control procedures in place to ensure that its
exposure is within the Group’s policies and there are sufficient collateral to cover clients’
exposures. The Group will only have exposures to securities which are liquid and readily
convertible to cash.
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(iii)

The Group has exposure across all major markets. If listed security prices increase by 5%
in the Singapore market and other exchanges, the impact on profit after tax, with all other
variables including tax rate being held constant will be:

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
Profit Profit
after tax after tax
$ $

The Group
Listed in Singapore 1,990,410 2,111,180
Listed on other exchanges 5,681,961 5,877,979

In determining the percentage of the market fluctuation, the Group has considered the
economic environments in which it operates.

A 5% decrease in listed security prices would have had the equal but opposite effect on
profit after tax and equity to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables
remain constant.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk management

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is
the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates.

The Group’s interest income and interest expense are exposed to changes in market
interest rates. Interest rate risk arises from financial assets such as receivables from share
financing, overdue trade and other receivables, short-term deposits with banks and
interest on borrowings from banks. The Group’s bank deposits and borrowings are
generally short-term. The interest expenses for short-term borrowings are at market rates
which are generally fixed at the inception of the borrowings. Interest income from share
financing and on overdue trade debts are generally pegged to the respective currencies’
prime rates.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were

held constant, the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 would
increase/decrease by $945,197 (31 December 2023 : $451,592).
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The tables below set out the Group and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risks.
Included in the tables are assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the
earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates.

Variable rates Variable rates Fixed rates Fixed rates
less than more than less than more than Non-interest
6 months 6 months 6 months 6 months bearing Total
$ $ $ $ $ $
The Group
At 31 December 2024
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 621,564,539 - 8,600,941 - 288,109,410 918,274,890
Trade and other receivables 194,219 70,000,000 1,748,596,253 512,585,066 19,408,069  2,350,783,607
Other financial assets - - 77,637,474 38,183,912 1,177,246,017 1,293,067,403
Total financial assets 621,758,758 70,000,000 1,834,834,668 550,768,978  1,484,763,496  4,562,125,900
Financial liabilities
Borrowings 597,044,834 - - - - 597,044,834
Debts issued 194,219 - - 224,368,039 - 224,562,258
Lease liabilities - - 3,362,262 7,610,120 - 10,972,382
Other financial liabilities - - 20,003,393 52,504,456 1,525,558,906 1,598,066,755
Total financial liabilities 597,239,053 - 23,365,655 284,482,615 1,525,558,906  2,430,646,229
At 31 December 2023
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 624,686,087 - 177,534,794 - 234,238,174 1,036,459,055
Trade and other receivables 11,412,705 10,870,872 1,224,876,153 515,388,304 21,649,774 1,784,197,808
Other financial assets - - 140,263,656 50,713,474 932,747,573 1,123,724,703
Total financial assets 636,098,792 10,870,872 1,542,674,603 566,101,778  1,188,635,521 3,944,381,566
Financial liabilities
Borrowings 601,533,030 - - - - 601,533,030
Debts issued - 277,456 18,442,364 205,015,877 - 223,735,697
Lease liabilities - - 4,648,244 16,364,397 - 21,012,641
Other financial liabilities - - 33,222,092 24,433,037 1,159,185,092 1,216,840,221
Total financial liabilities 601,533,030 277,456 56,312,700 245,813,311 1,159,185,092  2,063,121,589
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(iv)

Variable rates Fixed rates Fixed rates
less than less than more than  Non - interest
6 months 6 months 6 months bearing Total
$ $ $ $ $

The Company
At 31 December 2024
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - - - 2,348,718 2,348,718
Other financial assets - - 374,096 294,403,403 294,777,499
Total financial assets - - 374,096 296,752,121 297,126,217
Total financial liabilities - 126,655,963 - 58,761,271 185,417,234
At 31 December 2023
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - - - 238,956 238,956
Other financial assets - - 197,625 252,711,132 252,908,757
Total financial assets - - 197,625 252,950,088 253,147,713
Total financial liabilities - 42,887,000 - 55,502,749 98,389,749

Overview of the Group’s exposure to credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in financial loss to the Group. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk without taking into account any collateral held or other credit
enhancements, which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties arises from:

. the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked its credit management committee
to develop and maintain the Group’s credit risk gradings to categorise exposures according
to their degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is supplied by independent
rating agencies where available and, if not available, the credit management committee
uses other publicly available financial information and the Group’s own trading records to
rate its major customers and other debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings
of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of transactions
concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties.
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The following table contains an analysis of the Group's credit risk exposure of recognised and
unrecognised financial instruments, subject to ECL, based on the following internal credit rating

grades:
Category Description
Investment grade AAA-BBB
Non-investment grade BB-CCC
Default D

Internal credit rating derived using methodologies are generally consistent with those used by
external agencies.

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets and other items:

12-month
External Internal or Gross Net
credit credit lifetime carrying Loss carrying
Note rating rating ECL amount allowance amount
Group $ $ $
31 December 2024
Cash and cash 6 Al-aa2 Investment 12m ECL 918,274,890 - 918,274,890
equivalents grade
Outstanding contracts 7(a) n.a. (i) (i) 801,492,426 - 801,492,426
receivable
Trade and other 8 n.a. (ii) (ii) 2,239,380,763 (65,796,278) 2,173,584,485
receivables
Other financial assets 9 n.a. (ii) (ii) 42,413,617 - 42,413,617
Other current assets 10 n.a. Investment 12m ECL 75,149,481 - 75,149,481
grade
(65,796,278)
31 December 2023
Cash and cash 6 Al-aa2 Investment 12m ECL 1,036,459,055 - 1,036,459,055
equivalents grade
Outstanding contracts 7(a) n.a. (i) (i) 679,925,474 - 679,925,474
receivable
Trade and other 8 n.a. (ii) (ii) 1,643,433,103 (49,190,842) 1,594,242,261
receivables
Other financial assets 9 n.a. (ii) (ii) 40,575,140 - 40,575,140
Other current assets 10 n.a. Investment 12m ECL 58,772,155 - 58,772,155
grade
(49,190,842)
(i) For outstanding contracts receivable, practical expedients have been employed to calculate

(i)

the ECLs, where applicable. ECLs have been estimated to be immaterial, reflecting the
short term nature of the portfolio and the benefit of collateral or other credit enhancements.

For trade and other receivables and other financial assets, the Group determines the
expected credit losses on these items by using a provision matrix, estimated based on
historical credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted as
appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of future economic conditions.
Accordingly, the credit risk profile of these assets is presented based on their past due
status in terms of the provision matrix. The Group may also determine that certain loan
receivables included within trade and other receivables require separate assessment. In
these cases, the Group applies expert credit judgment in assessing whether significant
increase in credit risk or an event of default has occurred and in the determination of loss
rates and recoverability.
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(v)

In determining the ECL, management has taken into account the historical default
experience and the financial position of the counterparties, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate, in estimating the probability of default of each of these financial assets occurring
within their respective loss assessment time horizon, as well as the loss upon default in
each case.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made
during the current reporting period in assessing the loss allowance for these financial
assets.

Credit risk management

The Group has policies and controls in place to limit its exposure to single clients and single
securities. These will also reduce its concentration risks. Some of the Company’s
subsidiaries have to comply with the rules of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Ltd
("SGX-ST”) and other Exchange rules to ensure that these subsidiaries conduct their
businesses prudently.

The Credit Department monitors the Group’s exposure to ensure compliance with the
guidelines set by the Credit Committee. Trading limits are set for each client and each
trading representative. In addition, limits are also set for each counter. The trading limits
and outstanding trade positions are monitored daily and follow-up actions are taken
promptly. The Credit Committee also meets regularly to review clients’ and trading
representatives’ limits and trade positions.

The maximum amount the Company could be forced to settle under the financial guarantee
contract in Note 34(a), if the full guaranteed amount is claimed by the counterparty to the
guarantee is $230,754,387 (31 December 2023 : $426,192,012). Based on expectations
at the end of the reporting period, the Company considers that it is more likely than not
that no amount will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee
which is a function of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the counterparty
which are guaranteed suffer credit losses [Note 34(b)].

The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk, the most
common being the acceptance of collateral for trade receivables. The collateral held are
predominantly quoted securities. The Group has internal policies on the acceptability of
specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. There has been no change in the
collateral policy of the Group during the year.
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During the financial year, the value of marketable and non-marketable collaterals held as
security for trade receivables are as follows:

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
$ $
Quoted securities 33,349,794,300 21,009,976,465
Cash 324,784 332,853
Others 352,826,186 222,330,000

33,702,945,270 21,232,639,318

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, grossed up
for any allowances for losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.

Certain loan receivables have been designated as the referenced assets for certain debts
issued by the Group. The credit-linked clauses in the debts issued allow the Group to
deliver the underlying referenced assets to the noteholders as full and final settlement
upon the occurrence of a credit event (Note 22).

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, less collateral
held as security for trade receivables, represents the Group’s net exposure to credit risk.

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of
receivables from clients which may not be recoverable. The allowance is determined after
taking into consideration the collaterals and trading representatives’ ability to make
payment for their clients’ debts.

The allowance account in respect of outstanding contracts receivable, trade and other
receivables is used to record impairment losses unless the Group is satisfied that no
recovery is possible. At that point, the financial asset is considered irrecoverable and the
amount charged to the allowance account is written off against the carrying amount of the
impaired financial asset.

Cash and fixed deposits are placed with reputable banks and financial institutions.
Consequently, management does not expect any of these institutions to fail to meet its
obligations.

There is no other class of financial assets that is past due and/or impaired except for trade
and other receivables.
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The table below is an analysis of trade and other receivables and other financial assets
measured at amortised cost as at the end of the respective reporting periods:

As at 31 December 2024

The Group
Not past 1-30 days More than 30
due past due days past due Total

100% based on
Expected loss rate <0.02% <1% net exposure
Gross carrying amount -
Financial assets
subject to expected

credit loss provision 1,904,706,115 305,569,901 5,285,581 2,215,561,597
Loss allowance - - 2,008,018 2,008,018
As at 31 December 2023
The Group
Not past 1-30 days More than 30
due past due days past due Total

100% based on
Expected loss rate <0.02% <1% net exposure
Gross carrying amount -
Financial assets
subject to expected
credit loss provision 1,408,914,175 211,511,136 3,353,733 1,623,779,044
Loss allowance - - 1,450,747 1,450,747

Certain loan receivables within trade and other receivables have been determined by
management as requiring further assessment for expected credit losses. In 2024, loan
receivables amounting to $Nil (2023 : $25,075,931) have been determined to have been
subject to significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and loan receivables
amounting to $66,232,783 (2023 : $35,153,268) have been assessed to be credit impaired.
An amount of $63,788,260 (2023 : $47,740,095) have been provided under lifetime ECL
for these loan receivables.

The movement of loss allowance is determined to be as follows:

The Group
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
$ $
At beginning of the year 49,190,842 32,596,221
Currency translation differences 1,685,028 (876,773)
Allowance for trade and other receivables 15,728,878 17,471,394
Amount recovered during the year (808,470) -
At end of the year 65,796,278 49,190,842

The above reconciliation is arising primarily from credit-impaired financial assets and loan
receivables with significant increase in credit risk.
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(vi)

(vii)

Liquidity risk management

Prudent liquidity risk management entails maintaining sufficient cash and marketable
securities, adequate committed banking credit facilities and the ability to close out market
positions. The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash internally for working capital
purposes and from time to time may utilise excess cash of related companies. The Group
also aims at maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping committed banking credit facilities.
The Group primarily carries out dealing in and financing of listed securities and accepts
only marketable securities which are readily convertible into cash as collateral. In addition,
the Group ensures that exposures to a single client and to a single security comply with
the Group’s credit policies and the relevant regulations.

The Group’s current financial liabilities will all mature within one year. The Group’s
non-current financial liabilities have maturities of 2 to 4 years (31 December 2023 :
2 years).

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the
valuation techniques and inputs used).
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Fair value as at ($)
Financial assets/ 31 December 2024 31 December 2023 Fair value
liabilities Assets | Liabilities Assets | Liabilities hierarchy Valuation technique(s) and key input(s) Significant unobservable input(s)
Other financial assets (see Note 9)
Quoted equity 149,201,752 - 90,863,165 - Level 1 Quoted bid prices of an active market. N/A
securities
Quoted debt 5,894,552 - 19,631,279 - Level 1 Quoted bid prices of an active market. N/A
securities
Unquoted equity 186,568 - 181,035 - Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are estimated based on N/A
securities contractual terms, discounted at rates based upon market-related
rates for similar instruments as at the end of the reporting period.
Unquoted debt 24,605,340 - 28,456,177 - Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are estimated based on N/A
securities contractual terms, discounted at rates based upon market-related
rates for similar instruments as at the end of the reporting period.
Unit trusts 34,477,328 - 27,413,143 - Level 1 Published bid values. N/A
Unquoted 3,476,521 - 2,855,575 - Level 3 Net asset value. Net asset value.
investment in
private fund
Government debt 41,967,757 - 104,427,509 - Level 1 Quoted bid prices of an active market. N/A
securities
Derivative financial instruments (see Note 11)
Forward foreign 3,934 16,743 23,225 3,887 Level 2 Broker quotations. N/A
exchange
contracts
Equity 114,198,127 | 114,198,127 70,600,826 70,600,826 Level 2 Broker quotations. N/A
derivatives
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Fair value as at ($)
Financial assets/ 31 December 2024 [ 31 December 2023 Fair value

liabilities Assets | Liabilities | Assets | Liabilities hierarchy Valuation technique(s) and key input(s) Significant unobservable input(s)
Trade and other receivables (see Note 8)

Loan receivables 177,199,122 - 189,955,547 - Level 3 Discounted cash flow model/Transaction pricing including Comparable bond price/Broker quoted price,
designated as recent acquisition or transactions/non-binding broker ranging from $33 to $75 per $100 par value

at fair value quotation (Price-based [Note (a)]). (31 December 2023 : $33 to $75 per $100
through profit par value).

or loss

Debts issued (see Note 22)

Notes issued, - 177,186,952 - | 176,725,842 Level 3 Fair value of underlying referenced assets. Fair value of underlying referenced assets.
designated as

at fair value
through profit
or loss

Trade and other payables (see Note 19)

Trade payables, - 49,702,584 - 19,728,430 Level 3 Fair value of underlying referenced assets. Fair value of underlying referenced assets.
designated as

at fair value
through profit
or loss

(@) The Group may also apply a price-based methodology, which utilises, where available, quoted prices or other market information obtained from
recent trading activity in positions with the same or similar characteristics to the position being valued. The market activity and the amount of the
bid-ask spread are among the factors considered in determining the liquidity of markets and the observability of prices from those markets. When

less liquidity exists for a security or loan, the “price” inputs are considered unobservable and the fair value measurements are classified as Level 3
(see below).
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A significant increase (decrease) in each of the unobservable input would result in a
significantly higher (lower) fair value measurement.

Significant assumptions in determining fair value of financial assets and
liabilities

Derivative financial instruments - at fair value through profit or loss

The Group uses widely recognised valuation models for determining fair values of
over-the-counter interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts. The most
frequently applied valuation technique includes forward pricing and swap models, using
present value calculations. The models incorporate various inputs including the credit
quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and forward rates and interest rate curves.
For equity derivative contracts, the Group measures their fair values based on broker
quotations provided by external parties. These broker quotations are developed by
independent external parties, which utilises observable market inputs such as volatility
and exchange traded price of the underlying equity security. For these financial
instruments, inputs used to derive the valuations are market observable and are therefore
included within Level 2.

Financial assets/liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss

Loan receivables and structured liabilities which were designated as at fair value through
profit or loss are categorised in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of the
loan receivables may be estimated from the market price on a similar recently executed
transaction that the Group has entered into, valuations provided by an external valuation
specialist or non-binding broker quotations obtained from an independent external
party. Valuations provided by external valuation specialists and non-binding broker
quotation are used as the primary basis for valuation when there is limited, or no, relevant
market activity for a specific instrument or for other instruments that share similar
characteristic. These valuations and non-binding broker quotations are developed by
independent external parties, which are based on discounted cash flow model or inputs
such as the last transaction price of illiquid quoted securities and recently executed
transactions of similar assets to which the Group is not a party of. Broker quotations are
typically used for the Group’s structuring of any new structured transactions and also used
by the Finance Department on a quarterly basis in determining if the fair value of these
loan receivables is reasonable. On a periodic basis, the Group will obtain an understanding
from the independent external valuation specialist and broker on the valuation techniques
used in deriving the valuations and will also challenge any significant inputs or methods
used. In addition, the Group will also assess for any changes in the underlying credit
worthiness of these loan receivables using public information which will be used to validate
the movement and consider for any adjustments to be made to the underlying loan
receivables. Any adjustment to the fair value of the trade receivables would also result in
an adjustment to the debts issued and trade payables with no resulting impact to the profit
and loss. The fair value of the loan receivables will be adjusted for all changes in risks and
information since that transaction date or non-binding broker quotations based on publicly
available information if necessary. In 2024 and 2023, there has been no adjustment made
to the external specialist valuations and non-binding broker quotations for determining the
fair value of these loan receivables.

Investment in fund comprises an investment in a private fund that is not quoted in an

active market. The fair value of the investment is derived based on the Group’s share of
the net asset value of the fund as at the end of the reporting period.
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Debts issued comprise credit-linked notes underpinned by certain loan receivables
designated as referenced assets. The credit-linked clauses in these notes allow the Group
to deliver the underlying referenced assets to the noteholders as full and final settlement
upon the occurrence of a credit event. The notes will be redeemed at carrying amount on
the maturity date provided that there is no occurrence of a credit event. These notes can
also be redeemed prior to maturity date, which are repayable on demand at the option of
either the noteholder or the Group, through physical delivery of the underlying referenced
assets. Trade payables to third parties designated as at fair value through profit or loss
are fully funded loan participation and equity participation amounts that were received by
the Group. Included in the loan participation and equity participation agreements are
credit-linked clauses or delivery options that allow the Group to deliver the underlying
referenced assets to the participants as full and final settlement at the Group’s discretion.
These notes and participation arrangements are designed to mitigate the Group’s exposure
to credit risk on the underlying referenced assets, and their fair values are determined
with reference to the fair value of the underlying loan receivables held as assets.

The Company

The Company had no financial assets or liabilities carried at fair value in 2024 and 2023.

There were no significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy

during the current or prior year.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

The Group

2024

Opening balance

Disposals/settlements during the year
Additions during the year

Fair value changes recognised in profit or loss
Ending balance

2023

Opening balance

Disposals/settlements during the year
Additions during the year

Fair value changes recognised in profit or loss
Ending balance
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192,811,122
(34,053,472)
19,384,518

2,533,475

Financial
assets
mandatorily Financial
measured/ liabilities
designated designated
as at fair value as at fair value
through through
profit or loss profit or loss
$ $

196,454,272
(57,623,537)
74,154,473
13,904,328

180,675,643

226,889,536

222,047,058
(22,697,878)

668,042
(7,206,100)

219,418,188
(22,699,534)
11,291,337
(11,555,719)

192,811,122

196,454,272
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(d)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables
and payables, other current financial assets and other liabilities approximate their
respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity or frequent repricing of
these financial instruments. The carrying amount of debts issued and the assets
underpinning them approximate their respective fair values due to their relatively short-
term maturity or frequent repricing. The fair values of other classes of financial assets and
liabilities are disclosed in the respective notes to financial statements.

Capital risk management policies and objectives

The Group’s main objective when managing capital is to maximise shareholders’ returns and at
the same time conduct its business within prudent guidelines. Management strives to maintain
an optimal capital structure so as to maximise shareholder value. To achieve this, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividend payment and source for borrowings from banks which provide
facilities that best meet its needs at competitive rates.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to owners of the parent,
comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings.

The Group is in compliance with all externally imposed capital requirements for the financial
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2023.
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5 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) The Group in the normal course of business acts as brokers in securities for certain related
companies, directors of the Company and its subsidiaries and their connected persons. During
the year, the Group has entered into the following trading transactions:

The Group
2024 2023
$ $
Commission income received from directors 103,013 34,860

In addition to the above and the related party transactions disclosed elsewhere in the financial
statements, significant related party transactions during the year were as follows:

The Group
2024 2023
$ $
Rental of premises paid/payable to a related party (271,776) (140,520)
Rental of premises received/receivable from
a related party 501,636 519,694

Related party transactions were made on terms agreed between the parties concerned.

No expense has been recognised in the year for expected credit losses in respect of the
amounts owed by the related party.

(b) Key management personnel compensation is as follows:

The Group
2024 2023
$ $
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 28,674,286 22,015,165
Employer’s contribution to defined contribution
plans, including Central Provident Fund 183,639 159,507

28,857,925 22,174,672

(o) The Group has banking facilities from United Overseas Bank Limited Group (which is defined
in the SGX-ST listing manual as a person who holds directly or indirectly 15% or more of the
nominal amount of all voting shares in the Company) in the normal course of business. The
outstanding borrowings as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 are disclosed in
Note 20 to the financial statements.
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6 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Group

The Company

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023
$ $ $ $

Bank balances with:
- Related parties [Note 5(c)] 327,160,550 265,471,912 2,348,718 238,956
- Non-related banks 582,488,850 593,428,360 - -
Cash on hand 24,549 23,989 - -
909,673,949 858,924,261 2,348,718 238,956

Fixed deposits with:
- Non-related banks 8,600,941 177,534,794 - -
8,600,941 177,534,794 - -
Cash and bank balances 918,274,890 1,036,459,055 2,348,718 238,956

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of cash and bank balances approximate their
fair values. Included in cash and bank balances are uninvested monies in a segregated account
amounting to $43,837,431 (31 December 2023 : $4,756,531) held by the Group as part of its cash
management service product activities.

Fixed deposits bear average effective interest rates of 3.7% (31 December 2023 : 6.4%) per annum
and are for a tenure of approximately 17 days (31 December 2023 : 16 days).

Cash and cash equivalents do not include trust bank balances that represent monies held on behalf of
clients and segregated in accordance with the requirements of the SGX-ST Rules and the local
regulations in the respective countries. Accordingly, they do not form part of the statement of financial
position of the Group.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash and cash equivalents
comprise the following:

The Group
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
$ $

Cash and bank balances (as above) 918,274,890 1,036,459,055
Less: Bank overdrafts (Note 20) (12,735,391) (1,698,762)
Cash and cash equivalents per

consolidated statement of cash flows 905,539,499 1,034,760,293
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7 OUTSTANDING CONTRACTS RECEIVABLE/PAYABLE

Outstanding contracts receivable and payable represent amounts receivable or payable in respect of
trades which have been executed on an exchange prior to the end of the reporting period and have

not been settled as at the end of the reporting period.

(a) Outstanding contracts receivable comprises the following:

The Group
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
$ $
Due from third parties 801,492,426 679,925,474
(b) Outstanding contracts payable comprises the following:
The Group
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
$ $
Due to third parties 774,240,452 661,574,242

The carrying amounts of outstanding contracts receivable and payable approximate their fair

values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments.

8 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023
$ $ $ $
Trade receivables from third parties
[Note 8(a)] 1,571,900,363 1,141,045,701 - -
Other loan receivables:
At amortised cost [Note 8(b)] 667,480,400 502,387,402 - -
Designated as at fair value
through profit or loss [Note 8(c)] 177,199,122 189,955,547 - -
Less: Allowance for impairment of trade
and other loan receivables
individually assessed (65,796,278) (49,190,842) - -
2,350,783,607 1,784,197,808 - -
Other receivables from subsidiary:
At amortised cost - - 374,096 197,625
2,350,783,607 1,784,197,808 374,096 197,625
Current trade and other receivables
(recoverable within 12 months) 2,127,108,339 1,652,874,780 - -
Non-current trade and other receivables
(recoverable after 12 months) 223,675,268 131,323,028 374,096 197,625
2,350,783,607 1,784,197,808 374,096 197,625
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(a)

(b)

(©)

Trade receivables include margin loans.

Other loan receivables at amortised cost comprise of loan assets from the Group’s lending
business.

Included in these other loan receivables are structured loans receivables amounting to
$87,358,025 (31 December 2023 : $60,132,454) with maturity dates ranging from June 2025
to July 2029 (31 December 2023 : June 2024 to February 2028) and bear effective interest rates
ranging from 1.00% to 10.00% per annum (31 December 2023 : 1.00% to 1.52% per annum).
These structured loan receivables have been designated as the referenced assets for certain
debts issued by the Group (Note 22), or are subject to fully funded loan participation agreements
where the related participation payables are recorded under trade payables to third parties at
amortised cost (Note 19).

Included in these other loan receivables designated as at fair value through profit or loss are:

(i) medium term notes and distressed debts purchased at a deep discount amounting to
$177,199,122 (31 December 2023 : $176,736,217) with maturities ranging from
April 2026 to December 2035 (31 December 2023 : from March 2024 to February 2039).
These medium term notes bear effective interest rates ranging from 2.12% to 11.34% per
annum (31 December 2023 : 2.12% to 13.33% per annum). The effective interest rate
realised for distressed debts is 6.57% per annum (31 December 2023 : 7.80% per
annum). These medium term notes and distressed debts have been designated as the
referenced assets for certain debts issued by the Group (Note 22) under certain structured
transactions entered into by the Group, which have the carrying amount of $177,186,952
(31 December 2023 : $176,725,842) and maturities ranging from April 2026 to December
2035 (31 December 2023 : from March 2024 to February 2039).

(ii)  structured loan receivables amounting to $13,219,330 with a maturity date of May 2024
that were subject to fully funded loan participation agreements as at 31 December 2023.
These structured loan receivables bore fixed interest rate of 3.0% per annum. The related
participation payables were recorded under trade payables to third parties designated at
fair value through profit or loss (Note 19), which had the carrying amount of $13,219,330
with a maturity date of May 2024. In 2024, these structured loan receivables and the
related participation payables have been fully redeemed.

The net exposure to credit risk from these loan receivables designated as the referenced assets or
subject to participation is mitigated through the credit-linked clauses in the credit-linked notes and
fully funded loan participation agreements. The notes and structured loan receivables will be redeemed
at carrying amount on the maturity date provided that there is no occurrence of a credit event. They
can also be redeemed prior to maturity date through physical delivery of the underlying referenced
assets at the option of either the noteholder or the Group and are designed to mitigate the Group’s
exposure to credit risk on the underlying referenced assets. Given that the loan receivables have been
designated as referenced assets, they have been classified as current assets consistent with the
underlying liabilities.
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Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables is limited due to the Group’s diversified
customer base. Management believes that there is no anticipated additional credit risk beyond amount
of allowance for impairment made in the Group’s trade receivables. Trade receivables from third parties
bear interest at market rates. Loss allowance for trade receivables has been measured at an amount
equal to lifetime expected credit losses (ECL). The ECL on trade receivables are estimated using a
provision matrix by reference to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well
as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables carried at
amortised cost approximate their fair value due to the relatively short-term maturity or frequent
repricing of the financial instruments. The carrying amount of the non-current portion of trade and
other receivables carried at amortised cost approximates its fair value due to the insignificant impact
of discounting. The exposure to interest rate risks of trade and other receivables is disclosed in
Note 4(c)(iii).

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
$ $
Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVTPL:
Quoted securities:
- Debt securities 5,894,552 19,631,279
- Equity securities 149,201,752 90,863,165
Unquoted securities:
- Debt securities 24,605,340 28,456,177
- Equity securities 186,568 181,035
Unit trusts 34,477,328 27,413,143
Investment in private fund 3,476,521 2,855,575
Government debt securities 41,967,757 104,427,509
Financial assets measured at amortised cost:
Investment in notes 42,413,617 40,575,140
302,223,435 314,403,023
Current financial assets 300,878,742 304,567,638
Non-current financial assets 1,344,693 9,835,385
302,223,435 314,403,023

Other financial assets include certain quoted equity securities that are held by the Group for the
purpose of hedging clients’ open positions, unit trusts and government debt securities in segregated
accounts which are held by the Group as part of its cash management service product activities and
investments that offer the Group the opportunity for return through dividend income and fair value
gains.

Except for the investments in quoted and unquoted debt securities and notes, they have no fixed
maturity or coupon rate. The fair values of the quoted equity securities and debt securities are based
on closing quoted market prices on the last market day of the financial year. Investment in notes at
amortised cost mainly comprise investments in fixed and floating rate notes.
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10

The fair values of the unquoted debt securities are computed on the discounted cash flow basis
using discount rates based upon market-related rates for similar instruments as at the end of the
reporting period. The investments in unquoted debt securities of $24,605,340 (31 December
2023 : $28,456,177), represents investments in debt securities of private sectors in Thailand. In 2024,
the unquoted equity securities amounting to $186,568 (31 December 2023 : $181,035) in Thailand
represent an overseas subsidiary’s subscription to shares in a non-listed company set up by an
overseas exchange in 1996. The fair value of the investment in private fund is based on its recent net
asset value.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of other financial assets carried at amortised
cost approximate their fair value due to the relatively short-term maturity or frequent repricing of the
financial instruments. The carrying amount of the non-current portion of other financial assets carried
at amortised cost approximates its fair value due to the insignificant impact of discounting.

OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023
$ $ $ $

Amounts due from
subsidiaries [Note 10(a)] - - 294,389,564 252,697,293
Deposits [Note 10(b)] 47,500,844 36,915,833 -

Prepayments 4,527,770 4,069,153 12,374 -

Amounts deposited with
lenders of securities [Note 10(c)] 4,353,701 2,971,701 - -
Other receivables 23,294,936 18,884,621 13,839 13,839
79,677,251 62,841,308 294,415,777 252,711,132

(@) The non-trade amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

(b) Included in deposits is an amount of $2,313,105 (31 December 2023 : $2,073,034) placed by
a subsidiary as collateral with The Central Depository (Pte) Limited by virtue of the subsidiary
being a clearing member of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (Note 33).

(©) Securities borrowing and lending contracts

The Group
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
$ $

Securities borrowed
Securities borrowed from lenders, at fair value:

- Lent to clients 1,655,868 423,844
Securities lent
Securities lent to clients, at fair value:

- Borrowed from lenders 1,655,868 423,844

The carrying amounts of other current assets approximate their fair values.
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11  DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
$ $ $ $
Forward foreign exchange contracts 3,934 16,743 23,225 3,887
Equity derivatives 114,198,127 114,198,127 70,600,826 70,600,826

114,202,061 114,214,870 70,624,051 70,604,713

Forward foreign exchange contracts

In order to manage the risks arising from fluctuations in currency exchange rates, the Group utilises
forward foreign exchange contracts with settlement dates ranging between 1 to 7 days
(31 December 2023 : between 1 to 4 days).

Forward foreign exchange contracts are entered into from time to time to manage exposure to
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on trade receivables and payables.
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The following table details the forward foreign exchange contracts outstanding at the end of the reporting period:

Contract or underlying Gross Gross Settlement dates
principal amount positive fair value negative fair value of open contracts
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
$ $ $ $ $ $
The Group
Within one Within one
Forward week after week after
foreign end of the end of the
exchange reporting reporting
contracts 4,554,120 12,538,418 3,934 23,225 16,743 3,887 period period.
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Equity derivatives

Equity derivative financial instruments arise from customer transactions and are covered back-to-back by offsetting transactions with third party issuers.

The contractual or underlying principal amounts of these equity derivative financial instruments and their corresponding gross fair values at the end of
the reporting period are shown below:

Contract or underlying

Gross Gross Settlement dates
principal amount positive fair value negative fair value of open contracts
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
$ $ $ $ $ $
The Group

Within 2 years Within 2 years

after end of after end of
the reporting the reporting
Equity derivatives 786,682,040 708,824,628 114,198,127 70,600,826 114,198,127 70,600,826 period. period.
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12 GOODWILL

The Group
$
Cost:
At 1 January 2023 22,340,960
Exchange differences (164,393)
At 31 December 2023 22,176,567
Exchange differences (63,652)
At 31 December 2024 22,112,915
Impairment:
At 1 January 2023 (10,191,660)
Impairment loss (Note 28) (1,254,222)
At 31 December 2023 (11,445,882)
Impairment loss (Note 28) (9,609,632)
At 31 December 2024 (21,055,514)
Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2024 1,057,401
At 31 December 2023 10,730,685

Goodwill arose in the acquisitions entered into by the Group in prior and current years because the
cost of combination included the benefits of a larger client base, future market developments and
revenue growth. These benefits were not recognised separately from goodwill because they did not
meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash-generating units
("CGUs") that are expected to benefit from that business combination. Before recognition of
impairment losses, the carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows:

The Group
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
$ $
Thailand [Note 12(a)] 17,354,867 17,476,406
Malaysia [Note 12(b)] 4,758,048 4,700,161

22,112,915 22,176,567

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that
goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on value-in-use calculations.
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The value-in-use calculations apply a discounted cash flow model using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets and forecasts approved by management. The key assumptions used in the
calculation of value-in-use are operating margins, growth rates and discount rates.

(a)

(b)

Cash flow forecasts from the Thailand CGU are based on an estimated loss margin of -28.00%
to -11.00% (31 December 2023 : profit margin of 33.00%), estimated growth rate of 0%
(31 December 2023 : 0.30%) and weighted average cost of capital of 10.50% (31 December
2023 : weighted average cost of capital of 10.00%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2023, any reasonably possible change to the key assumptions applied is
not likely to cause the recoverable amounts to be below the carrying amounts of the CGU.

As at 31 December 2024, before impairment testing, goodwill of $17.4 million (31 December
2023 : $17.5 million) was allocated to the Thailand CGU. Accumulated impairment loss as of
31 December 2024 was $17.4 million (31 December 2023 : $7.7 million).

The Group has reviewed historical revenue trends following the resignation of marketing officers
transferred from previous acquisitions. The Thailand CGU has therefore been reduced to its
recoverable amount through recognition of an impairment loss against goodwill of $9.6 million
(31 December 2023 : $1.3 million).

Goodwill allocated to the Malaysia CGU includes the business of a financial advisory company
in Malaysia which is licensed under both Bank Negara Malaysia and Securities Commission of
Malaysia that was acquired in 2020.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Customer
portfolio
database
$
The Group
Cost:
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and
31 December 2024 2,277,314
Amortisation:
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and
31 December 2024 (2,277,314)

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024 -
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14  SUBSIDIARIES
The Company
31 December 31 December

2024 2023
$ $
Equity investments at cost
At beginning and end of the year 363,860,486 363,860,486

Details of subsidiaries are included in Note 36 to the financial statements.

The following schedule shows the effect of changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary,
UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Public Company Limited, that did not result in a change of control
on the equity attributable to owners of the parent.

The Group
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
$ $
Amounts paid to acquire additional interest in a subsidiary 640,696 658,423
Non-controlling interest acquired (1,033,097) (960,378)
Statutory reserve transferred from non-controlling interest 10,169 11,586
Difference recognised in equity reserve (382,232) (290,369)
Total movement in equity reserve (Note 24) (382,232) (290,369)

71



UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

15

16

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The Group leases several assets including buildings, office space and motor vehicles. The average

lease term is 3 years (2023 : 3 years).

The Group

Cost:
At 1 January 2023
Additions
Currency translation differences
At 31 December 2023
Additions
Disposal
Adjustments
Currency translation differences
At 31 December 2024

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2023
Depreciation
Currency translation differences
At 31 December 2023
Depreciation
Disposal
Currency translation differences
At 31 December 2024

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2024

At 31 December 2023

Buildings and Motor
office space Vehicles Total
$ $ $
41,417,368 221,199 41,638,567
6,976,707 - 6,976,707
(785,070) (2,066) (787,136)
47,609,005 219,133 47,828,138
861,109 50,246 911,355
(5,799,915) (154,192) (5,954,107)
(3,104,081) - (3,104,081)
1,508,755 6,698 1,515,453
41,074,873 121,885 41,196,758
(21,420,603) (180,536) (21,601,139)
(7,091,850) (26,141) (7,117,991)
480,020 1,716 481,736
(28,032,433) (204,961) (28,237,394)
(7,376,646) (14,075) (7,390,721)
5,799,915 154,192 5,954,107
(1,113,561) (6,878) (1,120,439)
(30,722,725) (71,722) (30,794,447)
10,352,148 50,163 10,402,311
19,576,572 14,172 19,590,744

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, certain leases for buildings and office space

expired. The expired contracts were replaced by new leases for identical underlying assets. This

resulted in additions to right-of-use assets of $911,355 (31 December 2023 : $6,976,707).

(a) Trading rights in Exchanges

Trading rights in The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, Hong Kong Futures
Exchange Limited and Philippine Stock
Exchange, Inc. at cost less
accumulated impairment losses

TRADING RIGHTS IN EXCHANGES/MEMBERSHIPS IN EXCHANGES

The Group
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
$ $
91,287 89,490

There is no impairment loss recognised for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December

2023.
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The following is a reconciliation of the carrying amount of trading rights in Exchanges at the
beginning and end of the reporting period:

The Group $

At 1 January 2023 91,082
Currency translation differences (1,592)
At 31 December 2023 89,490
Currency translation differences 1,797
At 31 December 2024 91,287

(b) Memberships in Exchanges

The Group
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
$ $
Memberships in The Stock Exchange of Thailand and
Indonesia Stock Exchange, at amortised cost less
accumulated impairment losses 833,885 835,520

There is no impairment loss recognised for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December
2023.

The following is a reconciliation of the carrying amount of memberships in Exchanges at the
beginning and end of the reporting period:

The Group $

At 1 January 2023 207,783
Additions during the year 629,708
Currency translation differences (1,971)
At 31 December 2023 835,520
Currency translation differences (1,635)
At 31 December 2024 833,885

73



UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

17  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,
fittings and Computer
Leasehold Leasehold office equipment and Communication Motor
Buildings land improvements equipment software equipment vehicles Total
The Group $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Cost:
At 1 January 2023 34,885,285 35,777,976 14,213,090 9,271,264 47,411,787 1,479,811 2,229,166 145,268,379
Additions - - 155,316 133,389 3,696,287 1,465 167,525 4,153,982
Disposals - - (182,921) (118,243) (528,909) - (252,032) (1,082,105)
Write off - - - (33,414) - - - (33,414)
Currency translation differences (145,159) (43,941) 95,340 (168,331) (991,373) (9,760) (33,905) (1,297,129)
At 31 December 2023 34,740,126 35,734,035 14,280,825 9,084,665 49,587,792 1,471,516 2,110,754 147,009,713
Additions - - 259,968 150,501 3,825,704 13,180 503,495 4,752,848
Disposals - - (169,106) (23,603) (2,333,158) - (462,449) (2,988,316)
Currency translation differences 134,840 40,817 642,529 270,741 679,370 8,076 51,206 1,827,579
At 31 December 2024 34,874,966 35,774,852 15,014,216 9,482,304 51,759,708 1,492,772 2,203,006 150,601,824
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2023 32,686,097 33,552,129 11,819,161 8,620,679 40,125,713 1,434,436 1,586,015 129,824,230
Depreciation charge 1,424,538 1,486,897 1,401,207 208,767 2,748,304 16,105 243,716 7,529,534
Disposals - - (171,675) (115,862) (526,768) - (252,032) (1,066,337)
Write off - - - (28,882) - - - (28,882)
Currency translation differences (98,108) (545) (177,771) (158,878) (455,919) (9,739 (27,772) (928,732)
At 31 December 2023 34,012,527 35,038,481 12,870,922 8,525,824 41,891,330 1,440,802 1,549,927 135,329,813
Depreciation charge 49,602 804 1,168,815 179,897 2,663,007 13,631 172,707 4,248,463
Disposals - - (169,105) (23,468) (2,327,186) - (235,950) (2,755,709)
Currency translation differences 94,555 565 335,994 182,665 810,800 8,469 43,306 1,476,354
At 31 December 2024 34,156,684 35,039,850 14,206,626 8,864,918 43,037,951 1,462,902 1,529,990 138,298,921
Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2024 718,282 735,002 807,590 617,386 8,721,757 29,870 673,016 12,302,903
At 31 December 2023 727,599 695,554 1,409,903 558,841 7,696,462 30,714 560,827 11,679,900

The Group has pledged property, plant and equipment having a carrying amount of approximately $1.2 million (31 December 2023 : $2.2 million) to secure

banking facilities granted to the Group (Note 20).
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18 DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to
the same tax authority. The amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on the
statement of financial position as follows:

The Group
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
$ $
Deferred tax assets 2,255,873 2,432,443
Deferred tax liabilities (1,222,353) (2,531,305)

The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group and the
movement thereon, during the current and prior reporting periods:

Fair value
losses/
Employee
benefits/
Actuarial losses Tax losses Total
$ $ $

The Group
Deferred tax assets
At 1 January 2023 48,113 1,627,520 1,675,633
Credited to profit or loss (Note 29) 739,677 26,871 766,548
Currency translation differences (16,501) (42,379) (58,880)
Defined benefit plans (Note 29) 49,142 - 49,142
At 31 December 2023 820,431 1,612,012 2,432,443
Credited to profit or loss (Note 29) 22,978 11,747 34,725
Currency translation differences 40,100 8,490 48,590
Defined benefit plans (Note 29) (259,885) - (259,885)
At 31 December 2024 623,624 1,632,249 2,255,873
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Fair value Accelerated tax
(gains) losses depreciation Total
$ $ $
The Group
Deferred tax liabilities
At 1 January 2023 (403,416) (1,465,805) (1,869,221)
Charged to profit or loss (Note 29) (678,865) (678,865)

Currency translation differences 5,190 11,591 16,781
At 31 December 2023 (398,226) (2,133,079) (2,531,305)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 29) 1,526,601 (219,401) 1,307,200
Currency translation differences 9,600 (7,848) 1,752
At 31 December 2024 1,137,975 (2,360,328) (1,222,353)

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefits through
future taxable profits are probable. The Group has unrecognised tax losses of $6.2 million
(31 December 2023 : $3.8 million) at the end of the reporting period, which can be carried forward
and used to offset against future taxable income subject to meeting certain statutory requirements
by those subsidiaries with unrecognised tax losses and capital allowances in their respective countries
of incorporation. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of $Nil (31 December
2023 : $1.0 million) that will expire in 2028. Other losses have no expiry date. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of these tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is
approximately $66.7 million (31 December 2023 : $54.0 million). No liability has been recognised in
respect of these differences because the Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023
$ $ $ $

Trade payables to third parties:
At amortised cost

Participation trade payables and
equity-linked notes:

436,323,558 310,749,372 - -

At amortised cost 72,507,849 44,435,799 - -

Designated as at fair value
through profit or loss 49,702,584 19,728,430 - -
Accrued operating expenses 133,565,043 98,104,209 9,769,151 7,054,752
Amount due to subsidiaries - - 48,981,712 48,438,290
Other payables 17,512,399 11,643,456 10,408 9,707
709,611,433 484,661,266 58,761,271 55,502,749

Analysed as:

Current 657,001,229 473,882,709 58,761,271 55,502,749
Non-current 52,610,204 10,778,557 - -
709,611,433 484,661,266 58,761,271 55,502,749
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The amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Participation trade payables comprise of fully funded loan participation and equity participation
amounts that were received by the Group. The related loan participation and equity participation
agreements include credit-linked clauses or delivery options that allow the Group to deliver the
underlying referenced assets to the participants as full and final settlement at the Group’s discretion.
The loan participation agreements will be terminated on the maturity date. The referenced
assets underpinning these participation trade payables have carrying amount of $72,394,175
(31 December 2023 : $57,541,784) in trade and other receivables (Note 8), and $49,702,584
(31 December 2023 : $6,509,100) in other financial assets (Note 9). The carrying amounts of these
participation trade payables, which are repayable on demand, approximate the fair values of the
underlying referenced assets.

Accrued operating expenses include the employee benefit obligations amounting to $4,978,307
(31 December 2023 : $5,677,598) and $1,369,617 (31 December 2023 : $1,375,504) arising from
post-employment benefit plans operated under Thailand Labour Protection Act and Indonesia Labour
Law respectively by subsidiaries of the Company. Details of the relevant information of employee
benefit obligations are set out in Note 37 to the financial statements.

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximate their fair values.

BORROWINGS
The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023
$ $ $ $
Current
Bank overdrafts:
- with related parties [Note 5(c)] 11,762,765 1,360,717 - -
- with non-related banks 972,626 338,045 - -
12,735,391 1,698,762 - -
Short-term bank loans:
- with related parties [Note 5(c)] 219,243,338 188,505,772 2,720,700 32,420,000
- with non-related banks 365,066,105 411,328,496 123,935,263 10,467,000
584,309,443 599,834,268 126,655,963 42,887,000
Total borrowings 597,044,834 601,533,030 126,655,963 42,887,000

The carrying amounts of borrowings approximate their fair values.

Bank overdrafts are unsecured and repayable upon demand. Bank overdrafts of the Group with related
parties and with non-related banks bear an effective interest rate of 7.50% per annum
(31 December 2023 : 5.0% per annum) and 9.33% per annum (31 December 2023 : 5.88% per
annum) respectively.

Short-term bank loans of the Company with related parties and with non-related banks bear an
effective interest rate of 5.00% per annum (31 December 2023 : 3.49% per annum) and 2.66% per
annum (31 December 2023 : 3.15% per annum) respectively. They are secured with a fixed charge
over immovable fixed assets and a floating charge over all assets of the Company, and is due within
1 month (31 December 2023 : 1 month) from the end of the reporting period.
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The terms of short-term bank loans of the Group at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

31 December 2024

Short-term bank loans
Weighted average
effective interest

$ rates Security, if any Maturity
Balances with related parties
219,243,338 6.01% per annum A fixed charge over Due within

Balances with non-related banks

365,066,105

2.77% per annum

31 December 2023

Short-term bank loans

Weighted average
effective interest
$ rates

immovable fixed
assets and a
floating charge
over all assets of a
subsidiary.

A fixed charge over
immovable fixed
assets and a
floating charge
over all assets of a
subsidiary.

Security, if any

1 month from
the end of the
reporting period.

Due within

1 month from
the end of the
reporting period.

Maturity

Balances with related parties

1 772 5.61% per annum

Balances with non-related banks

411,328,496

5.5% per annum
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immovable fixed
assets and a
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over all assets of a
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the end of the
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The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Non-cash changes

1 January Financing Reduction in Foreign exchange Other 31 December
2024 cash flows lease liabilities movement changes (i) 2024
$ $ $ $ $ $
The Group
Short-term bank loans:
- with related parties [Note 5(c)] 188,505,772 30,737,566 - - - 219,243,338
- with non-related banks 411,328,496 (46,262,391) - - - 365,066,105
599,834,268 (15,524,825) - - - 584,309,443
Lease liabilities (Note 21) 21,012,641 (9,471,614) (2,192,725) 799,505 824,575 10,972,382
620,846,909 (24,996,439) (2,192,725) 799,505 824,575 595,281,825
Non-cash changes
1 January Financing New lease Foreign exchange Other 31 December
2023 cash flows liabilities movement changes (i) 2023
$ $ $ $ $ $
The Group
Short-term bank loans:
- with related parties [Note 5(c)] 350,975,933 (162,470,161) - - - 188,505,772
- with non-related banks 781,348,207 (370,019,711) - - - 411,328,496
1,132,324,140 (532,489,872) - - - 599,834,268
Lease liabilities (Note 21) 21,005,912 (8,036,474) 6,976,707 290,334 776,162 21,012,641
1,153,330,052 (540,526,346) 6,976,707 290,334 776,162 620,846,909

(i) Other changes include interest accruals.
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21  LEASE LIABILITIES
The Group
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
$ $
Maturity analysis:
Year 1 7,011,045 8,786,182
Year 2 2,843,836 7,119,502
Year 3 1,526,361 4,085,346
Year 4 10,049 2,598,899
Year 5 837 -
11,392,128 22,589,929
Less: Unearned interest (419,746) (1,577,288)
10,972,382 21,012,641
Analysed as:
Current 6,724,524 9,296,489
Non-current 4,247,858 11,716,152
10,972,382 21,012,641
The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities
are monitored within the Group’s Finance function.
22  DEBTS ISSUED
The Group
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
$ $
Notes issued:
At amortised cost 47,375,306 47,009,855
Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 177,186,952 176,725,842

224,562,258 223,735,697

In 2010, the Group established a USD1,000,000,000 multi-currency structured note programme
arranged by a related party in which the Group may raise funds through the issuance of notes from
time to time under the programme. The terms and conditions of notes issued, have taken into
consideration the terms and conditions of the corresponding underlying referenced assets (Note 8).

Included in debts issued are notes that are issued at par with maturities on April 2026 to
December 2035 (31 December 2023 : from March 2024 to February 2039) under certain structured
transactions entered into by the Group amounting to $192,150,258 (31 December 2023
$192,535,447). The credit-linked clauses in the notes allow the Group to deliver the underlying
referenced assets [Note 8(b) and 8(c)(i)] to the noteholders as full and final settlement upon the
occurrence of a credit event. The notes will be redeemed at carrying amount on the maturity date
provided that there is no occurrence of a credit event. These notes can also be redeemed prior to
maturity date through physical delivery of the underlying referenced assets at the option of either the
noteholder or the Group and are designed to mitigate the Group’s exposure to credit risk on the
underlying referenced assets. The referenced assets underpinning these notes have carrying amount
of $192,162,972 (31 December 2023 : $192,546,213) and maturities ranging from April 2026 to
December 2035 (31 December 2023 : from March 2024 to February 2039).
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The notes with medium term notes as their underlying referenced assets bear effective interest rate
ranging from 2.12% to 10.50% per annum in 2024 (31 December 2023 : from 2.12% to 13.33% per
annum). The effective interest rates realised for the notes with distressed debts as their underlying
referenced assets is 6.42% per annum (31 December 2023 : 7.50% per annum).

The carrying amounts of debts issued, which are repayable on demand, approximate the fair values

of the underlying referenced assets (Note 8).

23  SHARE CAPITAL

The Group and The Company

2024

2023

2024

2023

Number of ordinary shares

Issued and paid up:
At beginning of the year
Issue of shares pursuant to Scrip

910,038,731

888,015,427

$

319,307,481

$
292,064,654

Dividend Scheme (Note 32) 35,018,138 22,023,304 43,002,273 27,242,827
At end of the year 945,056,869 910,038,731 362,309,754 319,307,481
Treasury shares:
At beginning of the year (10,000,000) (2,491,000) (13,897,708) (3,446,085)
Share buyback - (7,509,000) - (10,451,623)
At end of the year (10,000,000) (10,000,000) (13,897,708) (13,897,708)

Total share capital 935,056,869

900,038,731

348,412,046

305,409,773

24

Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and a right to dividends
as and when declared by the Company.

In 2024, the Company acquired Nil (2023 : 7,509,000) of its own shares through purchases on the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The total amount paid to acquire the shares was $Nil
(2023 : $10,451,623) and has been deducted from shareholders’ equity. The shares are held as
treasury shares.

RESERVES
The Group
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
$ $

Foreign currency translation reserves [Note 24(a)] (37,815,632) (75,437,262)
Statutory reserve [Note 24(b)] 1,920,153 1,852,597
Equity reserve [Note 24(c)] 2,640,188 2,257,956

(33,255,291) (71,326,709)

(a) Foreign currency translation reserves

Foreign currency translation reserves represent exchange differences relating to the
translation from the functional currencies of the Group’s foreign subsidiaries into Singapore
dollars are brought to account by recognising those exchange differences in other
comprehensive income and accumulating them in a separate component of equity under the
header of foreign currency translation reserves.
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25

26

(b) Statutory reserve

Under the Public Limited Company Act B.E. 2535 of Thailand, a subsidiary, UOB Kay Hian
Securities (Thailand) Public Company Limited is required to set aside a statutory reserve of at
least 5 percent of its net profit after accumulated deficit brought forward (if any) until the
reserve is not less than 10 percent of the registered capital. The reserve is non-distributable.

In accordance with the Securities Regulation Code of the Philippines, a subsidiary, UOB Kay
Hian Securities (Philippines), Inc. is required to set aside a certain minimum percentage of its

profit after tax annually and transfer the same amount to a reserve fund.

(c) Equity reserve

The equity reserve represents the effects of changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries

when there is no change in control.

REVENUE
The Group
2024 2023
$ $
Commission income 356,272,986 285,854,545
Trading income 12,424,533 6,874,995
Interest income:
- fixed deposits with related parties [Note 5(c)] 45,342,015 32,981,517
- fixed deposits with non-related banks 83,015,143 102,340,056
- clients 105,269,067 106,704,591
- others 9,197,993 1,714,102
242,824,218 243,740,266
Interest income from financial instruments
designated as at fair value through profit or loss 10,535,630 18,522,706
Dividend income from quoted/unquoted securities 391,095 1,454,581
Facility, shares withdrawal and arrangement fees 14,293,350 8,918,415
Advisory fees 8,194,905 7,727,864
Other operating revenue 25,313,630 18,409,360
670,250,347 591,502,732
STAFF COSTS
The Group
2024 2023
$ $
Wages, salaries and other staff costs 204,588,772 164,266,764
Employers’ contribution to employee benefit plans
including Central Provident Fund 7,703,397 7,059,162
212,292,169 171,325,926
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27  FINANCE EXPENSE

Interest expense:
- borrowings from related parties [Note 5(c)]
- borrowings from non-related banks
- debts issued
- lease liabilities
- others

28 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Net fair value (gain)/loss on other financial assets,
at fair value through profit or loss
Expense relating to short-term leases and low value assets
Marketing and business promotions
Communication expenses
Contract processing charges
Information services
Depreciation expenses:
- property, plant and equipment (Note 17)
- right-of-use asset (Note 15)
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Impairment of goodwill (Note 12)
Audit fees:
- paid to auditor of the Company
- paid to affiliates of auditor of the Company
- paid to other auditors
Non-audit fees:
- paid to auditor of the Company
- paid to affiliates of auditor of the Company
- paid to other auditors
Maintenance and rental of office equipment
Printing and stationery
Allowance for trade and other receivables
Other staff cost
General administrative expenses
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The Group
2024 2023
$ $
11,861,683 16,850,352
10,282,975 16,796,385
10,091,021 13,200,896
824,575 776,162
5,496,455 4,872,989
38,556,709 52,496,784
The Group
2024 2023
$ $
(3,102,592) 7,765,112
3,698,187 1,453,885
5,866,228 5,594,135
22,488,237 21,999,931
1,115,860 706,645
11,592,995 9,732,636
4,248,463 7,529,534
7,390,721 7,117,991
(48,182) (55,919)
9,609,632 1,254,222
271,938 245,929
542,413 512,973
110,104 85,986
96,308 78,969
55,898 34,858
12,930 -
1,549,144 1,535,003
650,550 626,626
15,728,878 17,471,394
4,085,490 5,261,814
19,685,970 22,260,011
105,649,172 111,211,735
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29

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax recognised in profit or loss:

The Group
2024 2023
$ $
Tax expense comprises:
Current income tax:
- Singapore 25,801,879 17,407,379
- Foreign 7,406,047 2,045,347
33,207,926 19,452,726
Deferred income tax (Note 18) (1,341,925) (87,683)
31,866,001 19,365,043
(Over)/Under provision in prior years:
- current income tax (785,511) 89,761
31,080,490 19,454,804

Domestic income tax is calculated at 17% (2023 : 17%) of the estimated assessable profit for the
year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The total charge for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:

The Group
2024 2023
$ $
Profit before income tax 254,756,699 190,234,035
Income tax expense calculated at 17% (2023 : 17%) 43,308,639 32,339,786
Effects of:
- Singapore statutory stepped income exemption and tax rebate (36,850) (72,993)
- Income not subject to tax (18,779,873) (15,870,796)
- Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 5,007,069 4,810,467
- Utilisation of previously unused tax losses (644,913) (3,584,220)
- Tax benefits on tax losses and other temporary differences
not recognised 624,433 724,715
- Different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in
other jurisdictions 1,083,448 916,707
- Others 518,537 191,138

31,080,490 19,454,804
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30

31

Income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income:

The Group
2024 2023
$ $
Deferred income tax:
Actuarial movements on defined benefit plans (Note 18) (259,885) 49,142
COMPONENTS OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
The Group
2024 2023
$ $
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit plans 1,632,022 (245,855)
Deferred tax liability arising on actuarial (gain)/loss (259,885) 49,142
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 38,167,971 (21,555,898)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax 39,540,108 (21,752,611)

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to ordinary owners of the

Company is based on the following data:

2024 2023
Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings per share
(profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company) $224,216,990 $170,360,792
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of basic earnings per share 918,121,868 892,977,353
Basic earnings per share 24.42 cents 19.08 cents

Diluted earnings per share is equal to basic earnings per share as there are no potential ordinary

shares outstanding as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.
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33

DIVIDENDS
The Group and The Company
2024 2023
$ $

One-tier tax-exempt final dividend in respect of the year

ended 31 December 2023 of 9.2 cents per ordinary share paid

(31 December 2022 : 6.0 cents per ordinary share paid) 82,806,111 53,013,445
Dividend paid in cash 39,803,838 25,770,618
Dividend paid through issuance of new shares under the Scrip

Dividend Scheme (Note 23) 43,002,273 27,242,827

82,806,111 53,013,445

At the Annual General Meeting on 25 April 2025, a one-tier tax-exempt final dividend of 11.9 cents
per ordinary share in respect of year ended 31 December 2024 amounting to a total of $111,271,767
will be recommended. These financial statements do not reflect this dividend, which will be accounted
for in the shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the year ending 31 December

2025.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

(b)

Obligations by virtue of a subsidiary being a clearing member of Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited ("SGX-ST") - secured

At the end of the reporting period, there are contingent liabilities of $2,377,012
(31 December 2023 : $2,130,877) in respect of the obligations of a subsidiary to The Central
Depository (Pte) Limited ("CDP”) by virtue of the subsidiary being a clearing member of the
SGX-ST. The contingent liabilities are secured against deposits amounting to $2,313,105
(31 December 2023 : $2,073,034) placed by the subsidiary with CDP as disclosed in Note 10(b)
to the financial statements.

Ongoing investigation on a potential fraud case

As of 31 December 2024, there is an ongoing investigation on a potential fraud case. The Group
has received complaints from clients and non-clients alleging that they have sent monies into
designated bank accounts which are supposed to be tagged to their trading accounts. However,
they noted that monies were not reflected in the statement of accounts received by them. From
the current investigation that has been done, the Group’s business partners have given an
undertaking taking full responsibility for the matter and acknowledging that the Group was not
aware of and had never been involved in their fund collection activities. The Group’s business
partners also undertook that they had accepted the monies for investment and the Group is in
the process of getting the business partners to return the monies. According to information
obtained from police investigators, several victims have received full repayment of all funds
transacted through the Group’s business partners. Based on the latest legal position received
from the legal counsel; the Group expects it is not probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, no provision was made by
the Group in respect to this matter.
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34 COMMITMENTS
(a) Financial guarantees

The Company has issued corporate guarantees [(Note 4(c)(v)] to banks for borrowings of its
subsidiaries. These guarantees are financial guarantees as they require the Company to
reimburse the banks if the subsidiaries fail to make principal or interest payments when due in
accordance with the terms of their borrowings.

(b) Capital commitments

The Group has entered into a partnership with Tikehau Capital, to jointly launch an Asia Pacific
Credit fund to tap Asia’s fast-growing private credit market. This new private credit fund seeks
to provide financing to mid-sized corporates across Asia Pacific. The Group’s capital
commitment to the fund will be $50 million. As of 31 December 2024, there have been minimal
capital calls made by the fund.

35 SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group is organised on a geographical basis, namely Singapore, Hong Kong, Thailand, Malaysia
and other countries. The Group provides securities and futures broking and other related services.
There is no single external customer that contributes more than 10% of the consolidated revenue.
The measurement basis of the Group’s reportable segments is in accordance with its accounting policy

as described in Note 2. The information below is also reported to the Group’s chief operating decision
maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.
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The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable segments:

Singapore Hong Kong Thailand Malaysia Others Elimination Total
$ $ $ $ $ $ $
The Group
2024
Revenue
- External sales 216,035,522 103,878,834 30,149,658 60,260,508 6,565,977 - 416,890,499
- Interest income 155,119,904 78,806,057 8,091,758 9,239,181 2,102,948 - 253,359,848
- Inter-segment
sales 11,150,360 355,508 437,486 885,611 1,018,589 (13,847,554) -

382,305,786 183,040,399 38,678,902 70,385,300 9,687,514 (13,847,554) 670,250,347
Segment results 163,861,337 74,693,904 (5,786,805) 24,390,193 (2,122,407) (279,523) 254,756,699
Profit before tax 254,756,699
Income tax

expense (31,080,490)

Profit after tax 223,676,209

Segment assets

(Note A) 3,495,479,511 1,088,044,878 242,435,010 258,916,630 77,041,480 (570,576,052)  4,591,341,457
Deferred tax

assets 2,255,873
Consolidated total

assets 4,593,597,330
Segment liabilities

(Note A) 2,042,569,675 353,616,168 81,858,719 68,584,519 42,113,527 (158,096,379)  2,430,646,229
Income tax

payable 26,992,758
Deferred tax

liabilities 1,222,353
Consolidated total

liabilities 2,458,861,340

Other segment

items
Capital

expenditure 352,934 404,272 1,825,305 1,991,256 179,081 - 4,752,848
Impairment loss of

goodwill - - 9,609,632 - - - 9,609,632

Depreciation and

amortisation

expense 2,290,763 4,076,499 2,994,160 1,678,844 598,918 - 11,639,184
Finance expense 34,564,197 3,121,135 540,519 469,395 290,408 (428,945) 38,556,709
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The Group
2023
Revenue

- External sales

- Interest income

- Inter-segment
sales

Segment results
Profit before tax
Income tax
expense
Profit after tax

Segment assets
(Note A)

Deferred tax
assets

Consolidated total
assets

Segment liabilities
(Note A)
Income tax
payable
Deferred tax
liabilities
Consolidated total
liabilities

Other segment
items

Capital
expenditure

Impairment loss of
goodwill

Depreciation and
amortisation
expense

Finance expense

Note A

Singapore

Hong Kong

Thailand

Malaysia

Others

Elimination Total

$

175,533,004
156,162,997

15,743,774

$

69,927,921
86,707,593

(199,302)

$

36,515,911
7,392,064

733,541

$

38,917,403
9,102,095

2,716,001

$

8,345,521
2,898,223

1,204,471

$ $

- 329,239,760
- 262,262,972

(20,198,485) -

347,439,775

156,436,212

44,641,516

50,735,499

12,448,215

(20,198,485) 591,502,732

107,182,321

2,945,287,504

1,540,119,283

868,963

4,782,461
40,403,487

64,952,146

1,060,807,706

425,049,543

299,232

4,477,250
11,325,976

4,308,860

255,261,621

93,372,881

1,170,449

1,254,222

3,404,932
713,454

15,995,484

229,692,000

68,521,583

1,258,074

1,503,214
377,785

944,777

77,334,199

36,181,439

557,264

479,668
497,136

(3,149,553) 190,234,035
190,234,035

19,454,804
170,779,231

_—

(577,005,972)  3,991,377,058

2,432,443

3,993,809,501

(100,123,140)  2,063,121,589

16,112,022
2,531,305

2,081,764,916

- 4,153,982

- 1,254,222

- 14,647,525
(821,054) 52,496,784

The Group operates mainly in the securities/futures broking and structured lending business. There
are no other business segments that contribute more than 10% of the combined revenue, net profit
or assets of all operating segments.

89



UOB-KAY HIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

36

LISTING OF COMPANIES IN THE GROUP

Name of company

Principal
activities

Country of
incorporation

Proportion of ownership
and voting power

Subsidiaries

PT UOB Kay Hian
Sekuritas (¢

UOB Kay Hian Securities
(Philippines), Inc. (©

UOB Kay Hian Securities
(Thailand) Public
Company

Limited (®

UOB Kay Hian (U.K.)
Limited (©

(U)OB Kay Hian (U.S.) Inc.
C

UOB Kay Hian Private
Limited (@

UOB Kay Hian Trading
Pte Ltd ®

UOB Kay Hian (Malaysia)
Holdings Sdn Bhd (®

UOB Kay Hian Overseas
Limited (®

UOB Kay Hian Credit Pte
Ltd (@

Trans-Pacific Credit
Private
Limited (@

UOB Kay Hian Properties
Pte Ltd (2

UOB Kay Hian Securities
(M) Sdn Bhd ®)

Stockbroking

Stockbroking

Stockbroking

Arranger

Stockbroking

Stockbroking

Under
member’s
voluntary
liquidation

Under
member’s
voluntary
liquidation

Investment
holding

Money lending

Margin
financing

Sublease of
Group office
Premises

Stockbroking

Company Subsidiaries
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
Indonesia 99.0 99.0 - -
Philippines 100 100 - -
Thailand 70.7 70.7 18.5 17.9
United 100 100 - -
Kingdom
United States 100 100 - -
of America
Singapore 100 100 - -
Singapore 100 100 - -
Malaysia 100 100 - -
Hong Kong, 100 100 - -
SAR
Singapore 100 100 - -
Singapore 100 100 - -
Singapore 100 100 - -
Malaysia 100 100 - -
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Principal Country of Proportion of ownership
Name of company activities incorporation and voting power
Company Subsidiaries
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
Subsidiaries
A.A. Anthony Securities Dormant Malaysia 100 100 - -
Sdn Bhd ®
UOB Kay Hian Credit (M) Money lending Malaysia 100 100 - -
Sdn Bhd ®
Held by UOB Kay Hian
Private Limited
UOB Kay Hian Nominees  Nominee Singapore - - 100 100
Pte Ltd (@ services
SIP UOB-Kay Hian Asset  Fund People’s - - 100 100
Management Co., Ltd (©  management Republic of
China
Held by UOB Kay Hian
Overseas Limited
UOB Kay Hian (Hong Stockbroking Hong Kong, - - 100 100
Kong) Limited ®) SAR
UOB Kay Hian Futures Futures Hong Kong, - - 100 100
(Hong Kong) Limited (@) broking SAR
UOB Kay Hian Finance Money lending Hong Kong, - - 100 100
Limited (® SAR
UOB Kay Hian (BVI) Investment British Virgin - - 100 100
Limited (9 holding Islands
UOB Kay Hian Investment People’s - - 100 100
Investment consulting Republic
Consulting (Shanghai) and research of China
Company Limited ®) services
UOB Kay Hian Provide Hong Kong, - - 100 -
Independent Financial insurance SAR
Advisors (Hong Kong) services as
Limited ® insurance
broker
UOB Kay Hian Investment Hong Kong - - 100 -
Investment Management management SAR

(Hong Kong) Limited
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Principal Country of Proportion of ownership
Name of company activities incorporation and voting power
Company Subsidiaries
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %

Subsidiaries

Held by UOB Kay

Hian Securities (M)

Sdn Bhd

UOB Kay Hian Nominee Malaysia - - 100 100

Nominees services

(Asing) Sdn Bhd (®

UOB Kay Hian Nominee Malaysia - - 100 100

Nominees services

(Tempatan) Sdn Bhd

(b)

UOB Kay Hian Wealth Malaysia - - 100 100

Wealth Advisors management

Sdn. Bhd. ()

UOB Kay Hian N.A.(2023: Malaysia - - - 100

Insurance Broker (L) Under member’s

Limited(® voluntary

liquidation

(@  Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore.

(®  Audited by overseas practices of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited.

(©  Audited by other auditors.

(@ Audit not required under the laws of the country of incorporation.

(e Audit not required as the companies are under member’s voluntary liquidation or have been fully
liquidated.

® Not audited as it is a newly incorporated wholly subsidiary during the year.
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Information about the composition of the Group at the end of the financial year is as follows:

(a) Wholly-owned subsidiaries

Place of Number of
incorporation wholly-owned
Principal activity and operation subsidiaries
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
Stockbroking Singapore 1 1
Stockbroking Malaysia 1 1
Stockbroking Philippines 1 1
Stockbroking Hong Kong 1 1
Stockbroking U.S.A 1 1
Arranger U.K. 1 1
Investment Trading Singapore - 1
Investment Holding BVI 1 1
Investment Holding Hong Kong 1 1
Sublease of Group Singapore 1 1
office premises
Investment Consulting China 1 1
and Research Services
Money Lending Singapore 1 1
Money Lending Hong Kong 1 1
Money Lending Malaysia 1 1
Margin Financing Singapore 1 1
Nominee Services Singapore 1 1
Nominee Services Malaysia 2 2
Futures Broking Hong Kong 1 1
Wealth Management Malaysia 1 1
Fund Management China 1 1
Providing Insurance Hong Kong 1 -
Services as Insurance
Broker
Investment Management Hong Kong 1
Under Member's Malaysia 1 2
Voluntary Liquidation
Under Member's Singapore 1 -
Voluntary Liquidation
Dormant Malaysia 1 1
25 24
(b) Non wholly-owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests
Proportion of ownership
Place of interests and voting right Number of
incorporation held by non-controlling non wholly-owned
Principal activity and operation interests subsidiaries
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023
Stockbroking Thailand 10.8% 11.5% 1 1
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Summarised financial information in respect of UOB Kay Hian Securities (Thailand) Public Company
Limited, a subsidiary that has material non-controlling interest, is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

UOB Kay Hian Securities
(Thailand) Public Company Limited

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
$ $

Current assets 237,408,859 239,285,762
Non-current assets 6,613,249 17,813,042
Current liabilities (82,067,801) (92,054,712)
Non-current liabilities (421,944) (3,332,276)
Equity attributable to owners of the company 144,022,255 143,147,300
Non-controlling interests 17,510,108 18,564,516
Revenue 38,722,824 44,641,517
Expenses (43,666,571) (41,138,256)
Profit for the year (4,943,747) 3,503,261
(Loss)/Profit attributable to owners of the company (4,407,845) 3,101,087
(Loss)/Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests (535,902) 402,174
(Loss)/Profit for the year (4,943,747) 3,503,261
Other comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to owners

of the company 4,807,804 (1,506,807)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to the

non-controlling interests 603,952 (201,301)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 5,411,756 (1,708,108)
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners

of the company 399,959 1,594,279
Total comprehensive income attributable to the

non-controlling interests 68,050 200,874
Total comprehensive income for the year 468,009 1,795,153
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (80,378) (198,240)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 26,152,507 35,339,336
Net cash outflow from investing activities (1,480,804) (1,112,926)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (2,697,105) (3,753,342)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) 21,974,598 30,473,068
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The subsidiaries of the Group operate post-employment benefit plans under their respective local
legislations, which are considered as unfunded defined benefit plans.

Amounts recognised in accrued operating expenses (Note 19) in respect of the Group’s defined benefit
plans are as follows:

The Group
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
$ $
Present value of unfunded obligations 6,347,924 7,053,102
Net liability recognised in statement of
financial position 6,347,924 7,053,102

Amounts recognised in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in respect of these
defined benefit plans are as follows:

The Group
2024 2023
$ $
Service cost:
Current service cost 983,830 864,147
Past service cost 272,953 9,181
Net interest expense 218,197 193,636
Excess of benefit paid 6,266 -
Components of employee benefit costs recognised in
profit or loss 1,481,246 1,066,964
Remeasurement on the net defined benefit liability:
Actuarial gains arising from changes in
financial assumptions (137,180) (175,762)
Actuarial (gains) losses arising from changes in
demographic assumptions (91,265) 216,446
Actuarial (gains) losses arising from changes in
experience adjustments (1,042,784) 205,599
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in
other comprehensive income (1,271,229) 246,283
Exchange differences on foreign plans 113,130 (66,091)
Total 323,147 1,247,156
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Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

The Group
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
$ $
Opening defined benefit obligation 7,053,102 6,698,311
Current service cost 983,830 864,147
Past service cost, including gain on curtailments 279,219 9,181
Net interest expense 218,197 193,636
Remeasurement on the net defined benefit liability (1,271,229) 246,283
Exchange differences on foreign plans 113,130 (66,091)
Benefits paid (1,028,325) (892,365)
Closing defined benefit obligation 6,347,924 7,053,102

The principal assumptions used for the purpose of actuarial valuations are as follows:

The Group
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
$ $

Financial assumptions

Discount rates 2.23% -7.10% 2.46% - 6.75%
Expected rates of salary increase 4.00% - 5.00% 0.00% - 7.00%
Retirement ages 55 to 60 years 55 to 60 years
Turnover rates 0% to 22% 0% - 21%

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined obligation are discount rates,
expected rates of salary increase and turnover rates. The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on reasonably possible changes of the respective assumptions occurring at the
end of the reporting period, while holding all other assumptions constant:

If the discount rate increases (decreases) by 1%, the defined benefit obligation would decrease
by $316,640 or increase by $357,779 (31 December 2023 : decrease by $419,274 or increase
by $478,412).

If the expected rate of salary increases (decreases) by 1%, the defined benefit obligation would
increase by $344,722 or decrease by $311,564 (31 December 2023 : increase by $460,562 or
decrease by $406,825).

If the turnover rate increases (decreases) by 1%, the defined benefit obligation would decrease
by $327,901 or increase by $185,758 (31 December 2023 : decrease by $438,148 or increase
by $262,758).

If the life expectancy increases (decreases) by 1%, the defined benefit obligation would increase

by $18,031 or decrease by $17,934 (31 December 2023 : increase by $24,137 or decrease by
$23,997).
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The sensitivity analyses presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined
benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one
another as some of the assumptions may be correlated. There was no change in the methods and
assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years.

STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT EFFECTIVE

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group and Company have not applied
the following SFRS(I) pronouncements that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

. Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-21: Lack of Exchangeability

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

. Amendments to SFRS(I) 9 and SFRS(I) 7: Amendment to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments

. Annual Improvements to SFRS(I)s - Volume 11

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

. SFRS(I) 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

. SFRS(I) 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures

Management anticipates that the adoption of the above SFRS(I)s, SFRS(I) INTs and amendments to
SFRS(I) in future periods will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group and
of the Company in the period of their initial adoption except for the following:

SFRS(I) 18 Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements

SFRS(I) 18 replaces SFRS(I) 1-1, carrying forward many of the requirements in SFRS(I) 1-1
unchanged and complementing them with new requirements. In addition, some SFRS(I) 1-1
paragraphs have been moved to SFRS(I) 1-8 and SFRS(I) 7. Furthermore, minor amendments to
SFRS(I) 1-7 and SFRS(I) 1-33 Earnings per Share have been made.

SFRS(I) 18 introduces new requirements to:

. present specified categories and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss

. provide disclosures on management-defined performance measures (MPMs) in the notes to the
financial statements

. improve aggregation and disaggregation.
An entity is required to apply SFRS(I) 18 for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1,
2027, with earlier application permitted. The amendments to SFRS(I) 1-7 and SFRS(I) 1-33, as well

as the revised SFRS(I) 1-8 and SFRS(I) 7, become effective when an entity applies SFRS(I) 18.
SFRS(I) 18 requires retrospective application with specific transition provisions.
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UM IUzRYAAATIIN (Fair Value) voIRuIAIYRILTENRANN TN giaﬁ wiiFou (Uszmalng) na (W)

(3) aldaaaaniis

alsieaandedte § 2 swlsznauldde eandadrsannidueusyeisi wazaaniisdnsaniiueae
v ' Y o ' 1 a IS 1 d‘ v v A {
vosgnd lasdnlFdsasnanlutiszeznadzanams Aadudnadsosar 1.0 veaneldnn Gnuinme
laldaundgiudszanmms lasdinoazidoaasi

1) eandgIngnNRaUaNT LT

a R & ' Aa o } Y a e ' s , Ao <

ninwe dszanmmiaenidairganwisuaasygid laslsamwmsliuishy desyyusinsude
1 o a a 1 a 1 ¥ { o a v a ¥ ' q’ﬁ a 1 { a ‘gl
domrdnitugiia 117 sy iiunaansiunw wazsedsaenidodrenifuausyyusniedweda
Founad 5 1 (I 2563 — 2567) uazlasunad 1 - 3 va9l) 2568 lavaanasnidoiafsdenifuauay s

aananfadu Seoaz 1.4

2) eanifgdngnniwaauasand
ANy awﬂﬁﬁmwamﬁmﬁmnﬂLﬁuaﬂmaagﬂﬁﬂmmazﬂmaw’nnmﬂs:mmms Usuaaatnedas
dudasly wazidhgazdunaenadasiudnaiodanaanidodnsaniiusavasgnddounas 5 O (w.a. 2563 -

a A A, o @
2567) uazlasunad 1 - 3 vasil 2568 Gafienvinnuasas 0.3
(4) WAVIANHABLATAATNIAIAINVLIAD

{ U o a 4 1 a J ~ 3 v a
Avinwy leddarhdszanumnsnenuaniasdanmainzifiedu lasRasaniiminanuaiwesie
Mea X 4 . cd A X 2 X e o o v .
lildifaduadwdaiiion udidwngniaiierafiadwiuaionsn auegnudiioneseniliamaninaiuguld
o & A R =S Yo v v a A 1 a 3 ) n;fdu 1 a
aanu NSy Svlamnualinamanuduasdanaainaafedulugiszeznadszanmnst deuriny
4 A da Xa i - 4
mLaﬁﬂNa“m@“qumnme}ﬁmmﬂuma 5 deunn (3 2563 — 2567) wazlasunah 1 — 3 vasll 2568 Gl

ANaRUYINAL 3.3 Suundell
(5) ANFONINAIUALANAAITAINE

AL FaUTIALAZANAASIRINEINN 1) funiwddmdivdsioansuazgunanl 2) funsnglifiaian uaz 3)
sunindansnsld TaganmsRasondunsngans g AUsnee nuinduninddamauuasiunindlidaand
a’mqmmﬁamﬁ'ﬂﬂizmm 2-31 Lm:l’ﬁbﬂqﬁaﬂéﬂLﬂug’miuﬂ’ﬁﬂizuﬂmn’ﬁﬂ"lLéﬂ&li’]ﬂ’]LLﬂ:ﬁ’lﬁ@ﬁﬁ%ﬁ?EJ’UE]\‘I
funiwdiay laol35&ua39 (Straight Line Method) IUATUYAIARDVBIFUNTIE oty dwsvFunswslng o
Uinmy lanansanmaasmuluiuning Lﬁiaﬂ'qa%‘ﬂmLLa:‘mﬂLmuﬁuw%'wﬁﬁlﬁumwﬁuﬁmmﬂnﬁ lasauud
Iidunindlndfiansazuazargnislinulndidoanuiuninday Foin dFouTmuazdndasniingues
funindlmidsdminlaslifiduasinoldangmslinudszanadoaiy afle niwdauasnandargnsly
wade 5 1

wananit AUsnwny ’L%ﬂ”aga@mz‘%"amwmﬂnaaﬁuﬂné”wz‘]’ﬁ‘n%mﬂﬁﬁuLﬁaﬂs:mmmsmLéausWﬂwmaq
funingansnmisldlng lassundlvdunindansnsldlnifiAnanmsdeengdyyid forgmsldonm
InfiAnenudunindioy uazltafiduasslumadiwimd1iFousian (Straight Line Method) aaanIsuzlIa1a4
RELT
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UM IUzRYAAATIIN (Fair Value) voIRuIAIYRILTENRANN TN giaﬁ wiiFou (Uszmalng) na (W)

6) AlFuan

dlg70au Usznavluds GhL‘ﬁwmmsamuﬁLmzqﬂﬂirﬁ LLazﬁhmm‘J%ﬂImﬁLﬁm%d fpyTuLtanau
Fyanuinis war aldendu 9 erfiviu arldinsdunisrudonaznndunis mwﬁimmiﬁamﬁaga
asysuitanuazusmarialy uasenldiemaniisades lasfusnueg dmualienldsoasnandsusamud
Jouaz 2.0 dadl 510ﬁa@hLaﬁﬂé'mﬂmilﬁﬂmaaﬁ"’ﬁﬁsnm;ju‘ﬂn@ (CPI) va4lnudaunas 20 O

aila fWILTIEMIIANUINNIGLAIAIANNTINTBIUTENY "L@Tﬁms%’uj@hmmﬁwmnmss’fi’yaﬁmm
LLazmﬁuIauLaﬁﬂﬁwﬁmmmm’mﬁaﬁrﬁaﬂﬁwmﬂu‘%ﬁ'ﬂ awluada I@mhmmﬁym”\mdnLLamsl,mwm"qu
wnapaianIdes uazusEng lddiiunsmeseunmsdasaiagnsdaiio auﬁaﬁ;ﬁuﬁmﬁuj@mﬁams
AOUANATULANTIBILED ﬁﬂﬁ’l&iﬁgammmﬁwmmﬁaagimumiﬁumaw%ﬁm Asneny Sesuwdld

USHNY Vl,xiﬁm@"qumﬂmiﬁaﬂﬁwhmmﬁﬂmaa@ﬁaaiwmmﬂi:mmmi
(7) elzanams

a2 o . a A Y o a s = o ak 1o
nuInmy ﬂ']%%@]ﬂ@li']ﬂ']‘]:}l,d%vl’ﬂiﬂﬁﬂi 20.00 ﬂaﬂﬂqvliq‘ﬂﬁﬂa%%ﬂfl'l‘ﬂ I@]Uﬁ]?%?%ﬂ'lﬂ‘ﬂ%ﬂ%ﬂﬂﬁiﬁﬂ'ﬁ

FRWIBUAZFDIUE NN HVBILTHN Y 1%LL(§]I a8zl

Gl’]i’]\‘mi‘ﬂ@i’]sl‘gﬁi’l g2aIusENY a1nsutllunana (2563 — 2567) waziliszarasnis (2568 — 2573)

8N17 ('5’1%1!]7]) 2563A 2564A 2565A 2566A 2567A

enldienalslomintinam (626.7) (735.7) (620.2) (560.9) | (483.4)
AU uuazuInNIane (172.5) (170.6) (186.7) (173.7) (177.7)
nldswaaniy (13.9) (9.5) (10.2) (18.5) (14.2)
wamﬂnuﬁ’mmiﬁmﬁm@ri’ml,ﬁ@’fu 0.1 0.0 (0.0) (0.5) (19.1)
AFauTMuazaas Mg (112.2) (102.2) (87.8) (88.3) (78.7)
fnldannau (144.2) (156.2) (186.7) (157.3) | (152.9)
0NUINMIFasaInNRLY (17.4) (5.8) (15.7) (32.5) (252.7)
A lgane (1,086.8) | (1,180.0) | (1,107.2) | (1,031.8) | (1,178.2)

378113 (RA%UIN) 2568F" 2569F 2570F 2571F 2572F 2573F
enldienalslomintinam (513.4) (522.0) (530.8) (539.8) (548.9) (558.2)
S IS A Tt b Lty (100.3) (105.3) (114.3) (124.0) (134.4) (145.6)
anlgswaaniy (9.2) (9.4) (9.6) (9.7) (9.9) (10.0)
wammnuﬁmmsamﬁ'mmﬁauﬁwﬁu (0.4) (3.3) (3.3) (3.3) (3.3) (3.3)
AFauTMuazaasIMIng (74.1) (77.9) (78.9) (88.0) (78.6) (78.6)
fnlFannau (163.2) (166.5) (169.8) (173.2) (176.7) (180.2)
ManuINMIdasdaNuiiey (1.8) - - - - -
A lgane (860.6) (884.5) (906.7) (938.0) (951.8) (975.9)

winewe: ¥ szanmnsil 2568 mﬂ“ﬁagm’%aﬁm{u"lmmaﬁ 1-31 2568 Lm:ﬂ%’uﬁlmﬂugamLﬁuﬂmnﬁ’ammﬁa (Annualized)
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UM IUzRYAAATIIN (Fair Value) voIRuIAIYRILTENRANN TN giaﬁ wiiFou (Uszmalng) na (W)

O  EANNAFIBLEIRNUANBLILK

szu14n1537n ”aga’ﬂ 2563 3undbasuan 3 vasil 2568 a@ﬂé’@]iﬂnﬁmguﬁwﬁuﬂ{wﬁmgulﬁﬂml,a:
widunywIoulaasd

93 AladaiagazyasyamBaTnanannsndiaisdaiwauiEny

annitdinininyBussuIsnnanning Sauaz 22.7
annitpaiananniwg uazdgdensaami Jouar 139.8
WnidnanTyduss uSENnannIng Jouar 39.8
Wmiipanamanniwduazaygndenssswin Jauaz 60.2

YNNI (5’]%‘]!]7]) Q4/68F 2569F 2570F 2571F 2572F 2573F
Aunuaywdsugn® duduning 3,842.6 3,947.4 4,054.8 | 4,160.7 | 4,264.4 4,365.0
ununywIougn® suniian 1,374.6 1,474.6 1,581.8 | 1,696.9 | 1,820.3 1,952.7
msilasuudasdununywisugnd (0.1" (4.8) (0.1) 9.1 19.7 31.8

winewe: 1/ miLﬂﬁmuLLﬂmﬁunu%guﬁwqw% #nsulasnnan 4 veed 2568

O aundgawalaTralunsasnu (Capital Expenditures)

a2 va a a e < ' v 6 a a '
NuInE1Y vL@]W‘ﬂ’]im’]N%ﬂOYJ%‘UENU?HYW I@mLﬂumiamﬂumuﬂmﬂ?dmm’ma:qﬂﬂ‘im LLﬂzﬁu'ﬂ'ﬁWﬂN

Jaan I@ﬂﬁmsmwmﬂmsamuﬁauwé“{l@“fmwifl 2563 A0 bATNIEN 3 Va9 1 2568 Lﬁaazﬁamzﬁumimnu

'
A

fifndustiluadansldmaduiinenudnd usclfidugulumsdszifuanadasmaniuasmulueman lag
ﬁ'mu@lﬁﬁuamﬂumuﬂ%‘uﬂ?ammum:qﬂmcﬁ wazdunindliddausnua ﬁmﬂugammwﬁ’u 35.9
unlud 2569 LLaf:ﬁ'mu@lﬁﬁumnuﬁé’mwmﬂauimﬁ%ﬂafz 2.0 dalanaaszaziiardszunmnny 81989
ﬂ"]Lﬂﬁﬂé’@i’]ﬂﬁlﬁﬂﬂﬂaa@?ﬁﬁmm@u’ﬂm (CPI) vadlnadounad 20 I Tagfilsnmny Lﬁud'ﬁ:é’umsamu
@Tdﬂa"nazﬁaumwwﬁaamﬂumiﬁ'@ﬁnmLLazﬂJ%“uﬂ?aﬂ{wﬁﬁuﬁlﬂuﬂﬁ@i’nﬁumuaﬂw@imﬁaﬂuamﬂ@

#51U521 NN NS BV DIV ITHNY

lasandudayauazaundguimnuadnedu ayddszanunanematuuessivhy dwiulasanad 4 0 2568 uazd

@

2569 — 2573 @94

318M15 (RAIBLIN) Q4/68F 2569F 2570F 2571F 2572F 2573F
sumlsmann
Nelaenmwenin 121.1 509.4 546.5 586.3 629.0 674.8
nelamrrufisuuazusng 19.4 97.6 117.6 137.6 157.7 177.7

USHn Faaslaiiis wealises $1na 19



UM IUzRYAAATIIN (Fair Value) voIRuIAIYRILTENRANN TN giaﬁ wiiFou (Uszmalng) na (W)

seldaanide 42.1 151.7 147.3 142.8 138.2 133.4
flsusznanauunuaIniAaslamImsiu 30.8 102.8 95.4 88.0 80.7 73.3
Teldsu 6.6 29.8 30.4 31.0 31.6 32.3
Tunela 220.0 891.2 937.2 985.7 1,037.1 1,091.4
anlgadufinan (196.7) (806.6) (827.8) (850.0) (873.2) (897.4)
ilsnewdnma dndeusan wazdrdaswing 23.4 84.7 109.3 135.7 163.9 194.0
f‘h'lsq*n% 4.9 6.7 30.5 471.7 68.3 92.4
0Ullﬁﬂd$’]%$°ﬂ’\dﬂ’\iﬁ%

fFuningnu 5,778.1 58849 | 60226 | 61853 | 6,377.0 6,601.8
WHANTIW 1,693.0 1,793.0 1,900.2 | 20153 | 21387 | 2,271.1
duvadgiionu 4,085.1 40919 | 41223 | 41700 | 42383 | 43307

O dNNAFTINANIIANAA (Discount Rate)

é’mwﬁ@aﬂﬁ'ﬁwml‘*ﬂumiﬁwmmgamﬂagu”quﬁmaam:um‘ﬁua@ SN lenA I MARYUNNINT
L‘3unu’al,a§ltlﬁ’mi’mﬁfﬂ (Weighted Average Cost of Capital: WACC) SfioLi’]uﬂ"]Laﬁlwadﬁunumamiﬁmaoﬁau
% (Cost of Equity: Ke) ﬁuﬁuuumamn’fm‘uaodmmawﬁ%uﬁ'ﬁmimamﬁs (Cost of Debt: Kd) d3uae
nadszlominsnnfannsineaeniie maﬁmﬁﬂﬁaﬁé‘ﬂd’sumaadmgﬁaﬁuuawﬁﬁuﬁﬁmimamﬁﬂ@sﬁ

gmmiﬁ']mm@]”wiavlﬂﬁ

WACC = (Wd x Kd x (1-T)) + (We x Ke)

aus ANNKNNY sasnly (Sowaz)
W é’mmuzhu;mami{ﬁuﬁﬁmsmamﬁmﬁaﬁmdm‘ulamw,mmf:ﬁuﬁﬁ i
mazaanidy lasdsBannaunsidudga a Tui 30 AuenBwu 2567
We é’mmmJammﬁanmshwuamuuazw‘fﬁuﬁﬁmsmaﬂLﬁm Tasdn989 100
PMIUMNITUAFA Db Sufl 30 Huenow 2567
T sanmBiuldidyana 20.00
Kd @Tunumamsﬁmaadmmawf:“uﬁ'ﬁmsmamﬁu aidl
Ke FUNUNNIMITUDDITIUN Y 8.1
WACC é’uvguman'm‘?mﬁ":l.aﬁlmi'm‘lfmﬁfn 8.1

v @
v A o [

NIt @mnumamn’iumaomunu M%ﬂé’@mm@ammuﬁﬁqumaami (Ke) NU3IN®1Y fuiwann Capital
Asset Pricing Model (CAPM) a3%

Ke = Rf + (B x (Rm - Rf))
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UM IUzRYAAATIIN (Fair Value) voIRuIAIYRILTENRANN TN giaﬁ wiiFou (Uszmalng) na (W)

auls

AMNRNY

sasle

Rf

é’mwaﬂammumaamsamuﬁﬂﬁﬂmnmwmﬁ'm Balumsdrwrnduasails
HAADLUNKIINWUTLAIIFUIA (Government bond) vasdszinelngy 811 30 1 3
\udarmanauunuvesiusinsiauaifengenilge Asgunaiimasanuaziane
1pag9daliio Iﬂyﬁawﬁgw'ﬁgiﬁam”aﬂa@iuﬁu@iavlﬂaai'm@imﬁaa (Going

Concern Basis)

082 2.6

B (Beta)

AraudszininanauunuaEss (Beta) lanfiusnusny lusunsnlden Beta
yasusEny lagaseld lasanasmananningds leduiniaswuns SP Lﬁa%q@
ms%ammﬁumﬁtyuaw%ﬁm NAIGTUT 5 figuew 2568

@Tmm@;f: Beta ﬁl“ﬁ’lumsﬁwmuﬁmﬂmaau?ﬁwﬁﬂi:ﬂaugiﬁaﬂixmﬂLﬁmﬁ'u
wialndifneiuusuny usnduvsuniaanafouwluamanannswsunsdszine
ny (Fayavesuiungifiny InuaziBoadimin 5 wa97891masvit) laglden
Beta mawé’nw%’wﬁﬁwﬁdﬁﬂiznaugiﬁaﬂszmﬂLﬁmﬁ'mwuﬂs’mﬂ'm%f:
(Unlevered Beta) a#t w839 NEWIDe Unlevered Beta AiU3nwny "L@i”ﬁmiﬂ%’uﬂ'ga

T#iduen Beta Nzzviauithnanslassasnan1amsdu (Levered Beta) 2aduS1Hny

0.72

a"'mwamauLmumnmiamulummwé’nw%’wzﬂMaﬂszma‘lm (SET) laadnads
Toyaanasiuanauunun1IaInuluaaIananning (SET Total Return Index:
TRI Index) ﬁfumgmm”ugm (Base Date) Aaiuil 2 anTaw 2545 lapfiianysasd
Lﬁialﬁa:ﬁaumwswwamauLmuﬁLwT’a]%amnmmmulus:r.l:f.m“?iq@ AIudIu
wsnfiaananannswey L?ummtws’“ﬁaga@”ﬁﬁﬁmdn Farrurissandnarinlsan
Tamanniwg uazdnddszlosdlugdiSuduna ﬁﬁmiﬂ’ma"uvlﬂamulmj
(Reinvestment) ¥nl#anansatanamsdiiininuanmsieatasnanningluszes

g e

Sowas 10.3

O ANNAIINANIINIIAUIAVDINTUFRIWIARAINTINATIITZA1Ia1152N10N3 (Terminal Value Growth)

A = I3 v a a g ) .
nU3nwy dnualieanmadulavrenizusiuaanasannslrsseoziialszunmnis (Terminal Value

Growth) ihriuTasaz 2.0 dall sdednadsdanmadulavesasiineguilne (CPI) vaslnodaunas 20 I

a3113zanmn1IN IR REAAVDIVIBNY (Free Cash Flow to Firm: FCFF)

lasardadayauazaundgiunimuatnidu aydyadidagdunszusinaadnivlasunad 4 0 2568 uazd]

2569 — 2573 ¢34t

18NI (5'mm‘n) Q4/ 68F 2569F 2570F 2571F 2572F 2573F
mlsanmsdfinnunainnans (NOPAT) 4.9 6.7 30.5 47.7 68.3 92.4
(+) AFaUTIMUa AL 18.5 77.9 78.9 88.0 78.6 78.6
(-) flddwamu 0.0 (35.9) (36.7) (37.4) (38.1) (38.9)
(-) mimﬁzmuﬂaamaaﬁunu%guﬁmu 0.1 (4.8) (0.1) 9.1 19.7 31.8
(1) Fraznilauaudy LT (11.7) (47.7) (48.6) (49.6) (50.6) (51.6)
NITUFDIWEAVDIUIBNY (Free Cash Flow to Firm) 11.8 (3.8) 23.9 57.8 77.8 112.2
aaala9iuvaInszUAIHER (PV of FCFF) 11.6 (3.4) 20.1 44.9 55.9 74.6

USun Fanaslaiile uealwed $1ia 21




UM IUzRYAAATIIN (Fair Value) voIRuIAIYRILTENRANN TN giaﬁ wiiFou (Uszmalng) na (W)

3780717 (RABLIN) ININ
yadnatuasnIsuRIuGa 203.6
AU U BUDINIZUFIUFARAINNT I
¥ ! 1,250.6
szpzIaUszunms (PV of Terminal Value)
ayaaRiksaInzuatkan 1,454.2
(+) FUFAURSTIEMIALUYINIIUEN Db 10N

o 1,483.2
30 NueNBY 2568
() whFundnszaande m 1N 30 Nueow 2568 0.0

aaAagtiupaInIzuaduAAgNS (Equity Value) | 2,937.4

UAUNTIIUTININNG (1) 502.4

yaafagiingnsuasnszuainan (LTnaan) 5.85

yaFE@ NI NN UYBILTENY ﬁ@‘ﬁmtuf[@U’iﬁga@hﬂﬁ]ﬁ;u”uf,gﬂ%mam‘s:uaﬁua@ (Discounted Cash Flow)

209UTENY lunydigin Wil 2,937.4 Suun Wiawinu 5.85 umedaRn

The equity value of the Company, as derived under the Discounted Cash Flow (DCF) approach based on

the base case scenario, amounts to THB 2,937.4 million, equivalent to THB 5.85 per share.

a ' 1 1 { P -
O M3eziaNNsanlnidanisiswnilas (Sensitivity analysis)

'
=

3nmny lavmaensianusenlnisanisidouulas (Sensitivity Analysis) maomsﬂinﬁuga@hﬁu
289 U38NY lapRnsaniaTasvidgdumnliuendfouudas suldun

1) das@aaa (Discount Rate): 3wy UsUsanAnaaiRniwanaisasas 1.00 IINNIHIIN

2) Qamﬂﬁ%amwﬁ'nw%‘wﬁiaumammmaﬁmai’u‘meia:ﬂmaaﬁaaL'smﬂszmmmi: f3nwne Usu

' & o v & A 4 o a X % =
Qaﬂ'm’]i‘na’u'ltl%aﬂ‘ﬂiwSlmail@]a’ml,w&l?lu/a@]m J888 10 Q’]nﬂimﬁ’]u

2NINANAA
NAAMHVDIUIENY (UINGDHR) 8.1%
71% 7.6% - 8.6% 9.1%
NN
8989 10.0% 6.15 5.84 5.58 5.36 517
" . 8989 5.0% 6.32 5.99 5.71 548 5.27
n13U3uUA229 "
\ & NIWI N 6.50 6.14 5.85 5.59 5.38
yaANMIGae —
LN 5.0% 6.64 6.26 5.94 5.68 5.45
2
LNNTYH 10.0% 6.77 6.38 6.05 5.77 5.53

MNMFAUATIZRAN B 1A (Sensitivity Analysis) vaImadaziluyadndnadnneiuaduieny auls
Qamﬂﬁ]ﬁ;ﬂ”quﬁmaansmm’ﬁua@ (Discounted Cash Flow Approach) agj’l,wﬁfm 517 - 6.77 mﬂ@iaﬁu lag

YaANANNTDAgIH (Base Case) a:‘l@‘ﬁgamﬁumﬁryl,vhﬁ‘u 5.85 LNNeanin
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UM IUzRYAAATIIN (Fair Value) voIRuIAIYRILTENRANN TN giaﬁ wiiFou (Uszmalng) na (W)

lumstt Ml3nwny denuiiunit AyadnTagtiuvasnszumiuga (Discounted Cash Flow) iluisnaz iau

o a a o o ﬂg; v v é
LHUMIALHUTIAY uazaumanInlumahils nunskaseuunuasiiaiuluswiaa Fudunistszanm
mMananTe lausreinoveiniEny munaninasifiaseguwauadzauinlinmey ldiduwitaumgauwa

& add

@91 NUINENY ﬁaﬁmmLﬁuiﬁ'ﬁ'ﬁmmwmm:aa\lslumiﬂs:l,ﬁugammmadﬁﬁaﬁwaau’%ﬁ'ﬂ%

ai‘ﬂmiﬂiuﬁu@amﬁfumoﬁ%ﬁm

a2 Yo A ' a o v ad a1 A ' v v Y &
nuInuny vl,ﬂmmiﬂi:mugam“uaam‘tm% ALITANN ¢ NNVNINTIV AU I@]Uﬁ']ll'ﬁﬂﬁ?ﬂvla(ﬂ@ﬂ@ﬂvtﬂ%

3 U
ARANUDY
A2 [c0r D ' 2o Anaiinuasfilineny
5sziAnyaa UIBNY
] >
(UINGBKR)
9
aa v v A& add o =® a = W v
Ayadiuaudyfiduisiasienigusnmaiivunclavmenil lag'ladld
Y ' a o o o { o & o
. .. axviouyadIamavaFUNINI LT N IUATIMA N IAlIAY L nTUN18RAS
1. ATuada i o 4 n dlve A oA MW o .
v 8.12 Tunlwiumsdunlsaeds snnslalaasiauds anuaunsalumsiidlsle
(Book Value Approach) a fae o & 4 a & A & o aad & axdqo
BUINAYDITINIVAIVTENY a9Un NJInwy FaflanuAninasmduisn lai
mm:au‘[umiﬂizLﬁwaﬁwu‘%ﬁ'ﬂ%
ad o ' o o ada o a =
o . . 4 AFdTudysyadianudyfiduitnasieugiuemainemclavmeniuas
2. A5ludsanad ey . . , . o 4 e i o A oeme
T Uiulysdenanisdneg MuraInNIunlwsunTIunltanss $935a9nan
(Adjusted Book Value 8.16 Me o . “ fe . o&
lildazriauanumuinlunisdimlsluewanvesssfinvesuisny danu
ANy ﬁlaumwmmnﬁmflmﬁwvlumm:aulumiﬂizmugamtumm
ByaduauTaeae lwitnazviouysdiuauivng a 903811
A & o A a o A 4, ' [
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